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OUR REPORT

The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation’s (the department’s) Annual Report summarises 
our activities in the 2019–20 financial year, and our achievements against our 2017-2021 Strategic 
Directions.

Legislative requirements
This report has been prepared to meet the requirements of section 28 of the Public Sector Employment 
and Management Act 1993 (PSEMA), section 11 of the Financial Management Act 1995 and Part 9 of the 
Information Act 2002 and contains information about the department’s: 

 – primary functions and objectives

 – activities undertaken during the year against budget outputs

 – significant initiatives, achievements and outcomes

 – financial management and performance

 – compliance and risk management. 
 

Report structure
The report contains a message from the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and comprises five key sections:

OUR DEPARTMENT
Outlines the department’s vision, purpose, priorities, governance and structure.

OUR ACHIEVEMENTS
A summary of the department’s progress and achievements against the planned outcomes outlined in 
the 2019–20 Budget Paper No. 3 and the department’s 2017-2021 Strategic Directions.

OUR PEOPLE
An overview of the department’s people, human resource management and compliance with legislative 
requirements.

OUR FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
The department’s financial statements and related disclosures.

APPENDICES
Additional information that is adjunct to the main report.

 
The report is published online at business.nt.gov.au

Alternative document formats are available upon request from the department.
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The Territory is currently a $26 billion economy. If we grow 
at an average of 5 per cent annually we could become a  
$40 billion economy by 2030 which will see an additional 
35 000 local jobs and a population of more than 300 000.

To realise the government’s target, a new investment 
attraction and delivery team, Investment Territory was 
established within the department on 1 July 2019. Bringing 
together key private sector investment functions from 
across government, Investment Territory leads government’s 
efforts to attract and secure private investment. The team 
coordinates significant projects for investors through a case 
management approach to ensure the best outcome for the 
project and the Territory. 

With the creation of Investment Territory, the department 
refreshed the agency structure to intensify our focus on 
advancing the competitiveness of the Territory business 
environment.

Economic Innovation now leads the research and 
development of whole-of-government economic 
development policies, strategies and projects that drive 
private investment, create jobs and grow and diversify the 
economy.

Business and Workforce continue to provide programs, 
services and initiatives that focus on encouraging excellence 
in Territory business and its workforce as well as promote 
investment across the Territory into the skills and capability 
of our industry sectors.

The department is facilitating a pipeline of diverse projects 
across gas based manufacturing, agriculture, defence, 
renewable energy and mineral resources. These projects will 
contribute significantly to our economy by creating local jobs 
and new business opportunities, collectively these projects 
are valued at over $21 billion and will support over 14 000 
local jobs, not including the $22 billion Sun Cable project. 

The department’s corporate service functions transferred 
to DCIS on 1 July 2019. While the human resources, 
information technology and web services functions no 
longer sit within our agency they continue to provide 
essential services and support to our staff to carry out  
their duties.

The department is leading the delivery and construction 
of the largest ship lift in Northern Australia and secured 
$300 million in debt funding for the project from the 
Northern Australia Infrastructure Facility. Once operational, 
the facility will be the catalyst for the development of a 
competitive marine maintenance servicing industry, creating 
400 long term skilled jobs. 

Message from the CEO

The department is the lead 
agency for economic development 
in the Northern Territory and 
continues to deliver projects, 
policies and initiatives that will 
grow private investment and 
create jobs for Territorians.
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We delivered a month long program of events, webinars 
and workshops during October Business Month to support 
Territory small businesses. In 2019, two new series were 
introduced to make events more accessible and encourage 
people to come as they are, hi-vis and all. This included 
the Tradie Talk series with over 20 events dedicated to 
supporting those in trades and a webinar series making 
events available from the comfort of your home or office.

We celebrated excellence in our vocational education and 
training (VET) sector at the NT Training Awards. One quarter 
of nominations came from remote areas and includes 
a diverse range of sectors include electro technology, 
carpentry, mechanical technology, digital media, health, 
fitness, management, retail, agriculture, hospitality, childcare 
and construction. Darwin tradesman Rory Milner was 
awarded the top individual honour, Austin Asche Apprentice 
of the Year and went on to win the Australian Apprentice of 
the Year at the national awards in 2019.

The 9th Aboriginal Economic Development Forum was held 
in Darwin in November bringing together 350 delegates 
from 43 NT Aboriginal businesses, organisations and 
government. 

We launched the Territory’s first Gas Service and Supply 
Plan to maximise business and workforce opportunities in 
the Territory. The Territory has developed a critical mass as a 
world class gas industry hub with three liquefied natural gas 
(LNG) projects operating out of Darwin. In preparation for 
further industry growth, the agency is supporting Territory 
businesses to be competitive and well-informed about 
opportunities in the gas sector. The plan aims to double the 
level of local participation in gas industry contracts.

The Territory’s investment, trade and 
business opportunities were showcased at 
major national and international events.

The Local Jobs Fund has 
made significant investments 
in projects that will help our 
economy grow and create 
jobs for Territorians. These 
investments include the 
Asia Pacific Aircraft Storage 
Maintenance facility to 

support its expansion to meet demand from international 
airliners to store and maintain their grounded fleet in Alice 
Springs, and the Territory Government’s Terabit Territory 
data connectivity project with VOCUS to upgrade the NT’s 
existing fibre-cable network from 400 gigabits to  
20 terabits.

Our team have begun laying the foundations for Darwin 
to become Australia’s next large data centre hub with the 
release of the Darwin Data Centre expressions of interest. 
Data centres are the backbone of the new global technology 
environment, a commercial data centre in Darwin will 
generate significant investment and create job opportunities 
in construction and the ongoing operation of the facilities.

Our local space industry is starting to take off with 
construction commencing on the Arnhem Space Centre, 
outside of Nhulunbuy, in 2020 and NASA announcing they 
have selected the Arnhem Space Centre to host Australia’s 
sounding rocket campaign in 2021. 

European aerospace company ArianeGroup announced 
the Centre for Appropriate Technology will host their 
GEOTracker® station at their premises. The facility will 
be used to track satellites using an optical telescope. Our 
team actively facilitated the connection between Centre for 
Appropriate Technology and ArianeGroup, demonstrating 
how it is effectively positioning the Territory in a highly 
competitive international space industry to attract private 
investment and develop new industries.

The Territory’s investment, trade and businesses 
opportunities were showcased at major national and 
international events, further strengthening our trade and 
investment partnerships. More than 100 participants 
and 70 Territory businesses participated in the Reaching 
South delegation to Shenzhen, China. More than 250 
representatives from across Territory businesses and 
government attended the Facing North event in Parliament 
House, Canberra. This is the third time this successful 
annual event has been held which aims to showcase the 
Territory’s trade and investment opportunities and focusing 
the attention of key decision makers in Canberra towards 
economic opportunities in the north. 

The Territory  
is currently  
a $26 billion 
economy.
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In recognition of the critical role energy plays as a  
driver of economic development, the Office of Sustainable 
Energy was established within the department on  
23 September 2019 and brings together a range of energy 
related policy functions previously undertaken by the 
Departments of the Chief Minister, Treasury and Finance 
and Primary Industry and Resources. The Office has been 
tasked with delivering current electricity market reforms 
and facilitating a reliable, secure and least cost pathway to 
renewables integration to deliver the government’s target of 
50 per cent renewables by 2030. The Office also developed 

the NT Renewable Hydrogen 
Strategy, highlighting the 
natural advantages the 
Territory can offer to develop 
this exciting new zero 
emission technology.

In 2020, the department 
commenced a detailed 
business case to secure the 
long term water supply for 
Darwin to support future 
population growth and 
attract future investment in 
the Territory. The detailed 
business case will review 
water supply options in  
the Darwin region  
including the Adelaide River  
Off-stream Water Storage 

and other storage and water efficiency options to provide 
secure, reliable and cost-effective water to meet future 
water demand for residential, commercial, industrial and 
agricultural growth and development opportunities.

To protect Territory businesses and workers from the full 
economic impact of COVID-19, the Territory Government 
released the Jobs Rescue and Recovery Plan. The program 
is aimed at keeping businesses open, cash flowing and 
Territorians working and included the Small Business 
Survival Fund, Home Improvement Scheme, Business 
Improvement Grant and Immediate Work Grant.

The department has led the government’s economic 
response, standing up five new economic support and 
stimulus programs within 25 days and mobilised a team 

of 75 staff from within the department and other 
government agencies to support the processing of 
applications. 

At the peak of COVID-19 shut down and physical distancing 
requirements, we mobilised a team of 20 staff across the 
department to directly engage with businesses face to face, 
focusing on providing immediate support and information 
to businesses heavily impacted by the physical distancing 
requirements.

A central Business Hardship Register was established so that 
Territory businesses that experienced significant hardship 
due to COVID-19 could receive relief from charges by 
government, local councils and some utility providers.

The Territory Jobs Hub was also set up to give employers 
an online portal to post job vacancies and give job seekers a 
portal to find work quickly.

The agency led the development of the Green Paper on 
Operation Rebound which sets out the economic situation 
the Territory is confronting. The NT’s response to the 
COVID-19 crisis has made it the safest place in Australia, 
meaning we are in prime position to have the strongest 
economic comeback.

I am extremely proud of what our team produced in 
2019-20 and how quickly we adapted to support Territory 
businesses and workers through an evolving health and 
economic crisis.

As we look beyond the global contagion, the department 
has a critical role in continuing to grow our local capability 
and increase private sector investment to create a strong 
and resilient Territory economy.

 

Shaun Drabsch 
Chief Executive Officer

30 September 2020

To protect 
Territory 
businesses 
and workers 
from the full 
economic impact 
of COVID-19, 
the Territory 
Government 
released the 
Jobs Rescue and 
Recovery Plan.
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OUR DEPARTMENT

Our Ministers
At 30 June 2020, the department reported to the following Ministers:

About us

The department fosters a diverse, sustainable and resilient Territory as the coordinating agency 
for business growth, economic development and investment attraction and facilitation.

The department delivers innovative programs and initiatives to upskill Territorians, propel 
business and industries to create and sustain employment and effectively market the Territory’s 
competitive advantages to bolster and expand trade relationships and private investment.

Our vision, purpose and values

The Hon Selena Uibo MLA
 – Minister for Workforce Training

The Hon Dale Wakefield MLA
 – Minister for Renewables, Energy and Essential Services

The Hon Michael Gunner MLA
 – Minister for Northern Australia
 – Minister for Trade and Major Projects
 – Minister for Business and Innovation
 – Minister for Defence Jobs and Veterans Affairs

With a vision for a  
vibrant and resilient 
economy for all Territorians, 
our purpose is to grow 
private investment and 
create jobs.

Underpinning our 
service to Territorians, 
the department strives 
to uphold the Northern 

Territory Public  
Sector Values

Ethical  
practice

Accountability

Commitment  
to service

Respect

Diversity

Impartiality
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Our strategic priorities

Support 
a globally 
competitive 
investment 
environment Excellence 

in our own 
business

Grow local 
workforce and 
business capability

Facilitate a 
pipeline of 
diversified 

investments

Connect business and government 
across industries and regions

The department’s 2017-2021 Strategic 
Directions identify our goals to achieve 
our vision and purpose:

These goals comprise the key elements to deliver a prosperous Territory economy that encourages growth and innovation and 
creates and sustains jobs.
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Our corporate governance
The department’s corporate governance framework sets the 
standards of probity, accountability and transparency that 
Territorians expect of government.

Performance
Planning effectively for the pursuit of our strategic goals 
and outcomes and the efficient and effective operation and 
delivery of services, and monitoring performance to improve 
delivery of our initiatives, services and programs.

Conformance
The systems and processes that ensure the department 
meets its legislative requirements, complies with relevant 
regulations and standards and makes informed and 
evidence-based decisions.

Risk
A department-wide risk management framework that 
facilitates the identification, evaluation and management of 
risk, at the strategic and operational levels, in line with the 
department’s risk appetite and tolerance.

Governance framework
The department’s corporate governance framework outlines 
the relationships and processes by which authority is 
exercised and the department’s activities are controlled.

The CEO is ultimately responsible for the operations 
and activities of the department. In discharging this 
responsibility, the CEO is supported by:

 – the Board of Management (BOM)

 – the Executive Management Group (EMG)

 – the Risk Management and Audit Committee (RMAC)

 – various other specialist committees

The department's governance committees  
are detailed at Appendix A.

Legislative framework
As at 30 June 2020, under the Administrative Arrangements 
Orders, and on behalf of the Ministers to whom the 
department reports, the department is responsible 
for administering the legislation and principal areas of 
government detailed at Appendix B. 

Statutory authorities and boards
The department is also responsible for the administration 
of a number of statutory and non-statutory authorities and 
boards detailed at Appendix C.

GOVERNANCE  
FRAMEWORK

Monthly

Monthly

Monthly

Quarterly

As required

Board of Management
Provides the highest level strategic leadership and 
decision making to the department. It sets and 
monitors the strategic direction and performance

Committees
Oversee specifics areas of importance in 
compliance with statutory requirements:

 – Work Health and Safety  
Management Committee

 – Risk Management  
and Audit Committee

 – Information Management Committee

Executive Management Group
Forum of information sharing and 

collaboration across division

Divisions
Ensures outcomes and 

target as set out in divisional 
business plans are met

Teams
Implements strategies 

and delivers performance 
outcomes through 

program, project and 
individual plans

STRATEGIC
Approve

PERFORMANCE
Endorse

CONFORMANCE

Advise

OPERATIONAL
Recommend

TACTICAL
Develop
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OUR DEPARTMENT

Our structure

Shaun Drabsch 
Chief Executive Officer

Anne Tan  
General Manager

Luke Bowen 
General Manager

Hayley Richards 
Senior Executive Director 
Commercial Facilitation

OFFICE OF THE CEO

ECONOMIC 
INNOVATION

BUSINESS AND 
WORKFORCE

INVESTMENT 
TERRITORY

Philip Chang
Economic Reform

 – Microeconomic reform
 – Regulatory review 
 – Economic analysis

Julie Jenkins
Industry Growth

 – Northern Australia policy
 – Industry development 

strategies
 – Procurement NT - Policy 

and reform

Jason Robertson
Development Strategy

 – Infrastructure policy and 
strategy

 – Water economic strategy
 – Economic planning

Jim McKay
Office of Sustainable Energy

 – Renewable energy policy 
and strategies

 – Electricity industry policy 
and reform

 – Renewable energy target 
implementation

Jason Howe
Energy and Gas 
Manufacturing

 – Gas industry development
 – Middle Arm and gas 

manufacturing
 – Major projects and 

commercial facilitation

Scott Wauchope
Priority Sectors and Trade

 – Major projects and 
minerals

 – Priority sectors
 – Tourism
 – Commercial facilitation

Jason Finlay
Facilitated Projects

 – Facilitated projects
 – Local Jobs Fund

Guy Boekenstein
Defence and National 
Security

 – Defence industry 
engagement

 – Defence engagement  
and support

Wendy Pritchard
Market Engagement

 – Market engagement and 
strategy

 – Northern Australia 
Development Office

 – International engagement 
 – Investment attraction

Giovina D’Alessandro
Ship Lift Project

Bill Sankey
Territory Engagement  
and Delivery

 – Regional delivery
 – Economic development 

officers
 – Small business champions
 – Workforce coordinators

Tracy Clark
Strategy and Partnerships

 – Training
 – Migration
 – International education
 – Business innovation
 – Policy and data analytics

Bardia Bodaghi
Grants and Business 
Performance

 – Grants
 – Territory Business Centres

Cathy White 
Senior Executive Director

Sibylle Brautigam 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Sibylle Brautigam

Jason Schoolmeester

TEAM 
REBOUND

Sophia Tutton
Chief Financial Officer  
Finance and Business 
Services

 – Governance and 
performance

 – Finance
 – General services

Gina Cassimatis
Executive Services 

 – Ministerial liaison
 – Secretariat 
 – Executive support 

services

Jill Morris
Strategic Engagement  
and Communications

 – Strategic engagement
 – Marketing and 

communications
 – Digital communications 

and social media
 – Media, public relations, 

events
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Our highlights

Support a globally competitive investment environment

Grow local workforce and business capability

Facilitate a pipeline of diversified investments

Connect business and government across industries and regions

Excellence in our own business

 – Developed an economic recovery strategy for post COVID-19 through the  
Operation Rebound Green Paper (see p. 19)

 – Identified opportunities to streamline processes in the beige tape review (see p. 26)
 – Advanced industry strategies, including:

 – developed the NT Renewable Hydrogen Strategy (see p. 27)
 – delivered the Territory Space Investment 2020 Action Plan (see p. 27)
 – released the Gas Service and Supply Plan (see p. 29) 

 – Implemented year one of the Procurement Capability Development Framework (see p. 27)
 – Delivered the NT Project Development Framework (see p. 27)

 – Responded to emerging COVID-19 risk through reallocation of resources to support 
businesses and their workforce (see p. 17 and p. 18)

 – Supported population growth through the Welcome to Territory Incentives (see p. 21)
 – Supported businesses through:

 – administration of stimulus and targeted grant programs (see p. 21)
 – one-on-one engagement with businesses (see p. 21)

 – Assisted export businesses with their international marketing activities (see p. 29)
 – Supported Aboriginal people interested in starting or expanding their existing businesses (see p. 21)
 – Supported registered training organisations (RTOs) to upgrade their VET facilities (see p. 23)
 – Funded 17 497 VET students, 38 per cent of these students were in regions (see p. 23)
 – Increased the number of international students (see p. 24)
 – Advocated for more places for skilled workers in the NT (see p. 24) 

 – Responsible for the delivery of 11 facilitated investment projects valued at over $30 billion (see p. 28)
 – Supported the creation of 670 new jobs through the Local Jobs Fund (see p. 28)
 – Case managed a pipeline of more than 200 market led major projects (see p. 28)
 – Raised the NT’s profile as a trade and investment destination through a number of delegations (see p. 28 and p. 29)

 – Assisted in significant economic development initiatives through ‘Local Decision Making’ agreements  
with Aboriginal communities (see p. 21)

 – Held the inaugural Barkly Mining and Energy Services Forum (see p. 21)
 – Invested $1.25 million in meeting the training needs of Aboriginal people (see p. 23)
 – Engaged with businesses in the Barkly region around job opportunities, training pathways and  
the department’s investment (see p. 23) 

 – Delivered the 9th Aboriginal Economic Development Forum and October Business Month (see p. 30 and p. 119)

 – Refreshed the department’s Strategic Directions 2017-2021, including the key deliverables (see p. 30)
 – Conducted a review and implemented changes to grant processes (see p. 30)
 – Managed within budget (see p. 30)
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COVID-19 response

Home Improvement Scheme ($100M)
To support trades and contractors, and keep  
cash flowing, by progressing around 20 000 
screwdriver-ready projects in Territory homes

Business Improvement Grants ($20M)
To support trade and contractors, and keep  
cash flowing, through grants of up to $20 000  
to businesses to make improvements to  
commercial premises

Immediate Work Grants ($5M)
To support trades and contractors, and keep cash 
flowing, through grants of up to $100 000 to  
not-for-profit organisations to make permanent 
improvements to their premises

Small Business Survival Fund ($50M)
To help small business survive the unprecedented 
economic impact of COVID-19 and pivot to 
accommodate the new operating environment

The NTG acted fast to protect Territorians – their health, their jobs, their businesses and the economy. 
The department was, and continues to be, a leading agency in protecting Territorians from the deep economic impact of 
COVID-19, and is striving to save jobs, support and protect businesses and keep the Territory’s economy on the road to 
recovery. Since 14 March 2020, total employee wages in the Territory declined by only 0.2 per cent and total employee jobs 
by 1.1 per cent – the smallest loss of total employee wages and second smallest loss of employee jobs across all jurisdictions.

Stimulus programs and grants
The Jobs Rescue and Recovery Plan approved 1689 NT local businesses as registered service providers to undertake works 
under the Plan and received over 21 000 applications.
To support the processing of the Territory’s stimulus programs and grants, the department immediately mobilised a team of over 
70 staff, including staff secondments from eight other Territory agencies.

Value of 
approved works 

in 2019-20

Value of 
approved works 

in 2019-20

Value of 
approved works 

in 2019-20

Approved  
funding in  
2019-20

Estimated 
economic impact 
during 2019-20

Estimated 
economic impact 
during 2019-20

Estimated 
economic impact 
during 2019-20

Approved 
applications 
in 2019-20

Approved 
applications 
in 2019-20

Approved 
applications 
in 2019-20

Number of supported 
businesses in  

2019-20

 5698

228 81

1207$50.4M

$4.2M $5.4M

$39.4M$83.7M

$7.8M $10.2M

 

Home and Business Battery Scheme
Funding for the installation of batteries and inverters 
to create local jobs while moving towards the plan for 
50 per cent renewables by 2030

Trade Support Scheme Quick Response Grants
To support exporters to adapt to the ‘new normal’ through 
export planning targeting post-COVID-19 export markets  
and strengthening their e-commerce and digital capacity

Value of  
approved works  

in 2019-20

Approved  
funding in  
2019-20

Approved  
applications in  

2019-20

Number of supported 
businesses in  

2019-20

86 19$1.7M $137K
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Business and industry support and 
engagement

Following the declaration of COVID-19 as a worldwide 
pandemic, the department delivered an intensive 
engagement outreach initiative to ensure Territory businesses 
and industry received timely and factual information on the 
constantly changing COVID-19 restrictions. A dedicated team 
provided assistance to affected businesses to navigate the 
operating and economic impacts of COVID-19 restrictions 
and support to make informed decisions as they adapted to 
the ‘new normal’. 

 – The Territory Business Centres, as the front-line contact 
centre for the Jobs Rescue and Recovery Plan programs, 
processed a 74 per cent increase in inquiries, in comparison 
to the prior year, from businesses seeking information on, 
and support to access, government support initiatives.

 – Departmental staff visited 2600 businesses across the 
Territory, including 125 Aboriginal businesses, during the 

period 23 March 2020 to  
17 April 2020, to conduct 
welfare checks, provide 
information on available 
government support or 
understand the impact of 
COVID-19 restrictions on their 
business.

 – The department worked with 
the Chamber of Commerce and 
Business Enterprise Centre NT 

to expand reach and access and enable additional support 
and professional advice to over 5000 small to medium 
enterprises impacted by COVID–19.

 – The department released a free online ‘Business Health 
Check’ tool to provide fast, professional advice and support 
to assist businesses to navigate the impacts of COVID-19 
and stood up four new targeted resilience programs. 

 – The department worked closely with hospitality 
industry representatives and the Department of Health 
to understand and champion the needs of hospitality 
businesses on the staged lifting of restrictions, arriving at 
solutions that have been acceptable to all stakeholders and 
saw the Territory lift restrictions sooner than other states 
and territories.

 – 742 businesses were registered as eligible, under the 
Business Hardship Register program, to apply for financial 
relief, including relief from charges by government, local 
councils and some utility providers.

Workforce support
To support impacted and displaced workers and continue to 
provide upskilling and reskilling opportunities for workers to 
meet the changing needs of Territory employers in response 
to COVID-19, the department:

 – rapidly delivered the Territory 
Jobs Hub to connect 
COVID-19 impacted workers 
with new jobs, with 2583 
workers and 157 Territory 
organisations registered as at 
30 June 2020 and a total of 
930 job seekers successfully 
connected with potential NT 
employers

 – in partnership with RTOs, 
developed an offering of 
70 free or low-cost short 
courses to upskill and reskill 
workers displaced as a result 
of COVID-19

 – in partnership with the Australian Government, worked 
with nine local RTOs to develop a low-cost infection 
control training program which is being delivered across 
the Territory to assist businesses to respond to and 
manage COVID-19 conditions in the operation of their 
business

 – continued to work closely with, and provided further 
financial support to the Australian Apprenticeships 
Support Network to ensure additional servicing was 
provided to employers and apprentices affected by 
COVID-19 so that the commencement, retention and 
completion of apprentices and trainees in the Territory 
could continue

 – StudyNT increased advocacy on behalf of temporary 
migrants and international students for support services

 – MigrationNT received an increased number of enquires 
related to COVID-19 and provided advice and support to 
NT employers and individuals on visa issues.

Emergency Operations Centre
The department staffed a seven-day roster to deliver the 
NTG Emergency Operations Centre ‘Critical Goods and 
Services’ function to ensure the continuous flow of critical 
goods, including food and medical supplies, into and within 
the Territory and particularly to those most isolated and 
vulnerable.

Departmental 
staff visited 

2600 
businesses 
across the 
Territory

Rapidly 
delivered the 
Territory Jobs 
Hub   

930 
job seekers 
successfully 
connected with 
potential NT 
employers



ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020 19 

OUR ACHIEVEMENTS

NT Rebound
In collaboration with other NTG agencies, the department 
led the development of the Operation Rebound Green 
Paper (Green Paper), released by the Chief Minister in 
May 2020. The Green Paper highlighted the need for the 
Territory economy to be positioned to effectively respond 
to a new global and national operating environment to 
sustain businesses and jobs and presented a set of practical 
and immediate initiatives the Territory could take to ensure 
our industries recover, investment does not falter and new 
opportunities are seized. 

As an initiative of the Green Paper, the Territory Economic 
Reconstruction Commission (the Commission) was 
established to provide advice to the Chief Minister on 
the acceleration of the Territory’s economic rebound 
and positioning the Territory for growth to a $40 billion 
economy by 2030. 

The Commission will use 
its expertise to identify the 
key components needed to 
capitalise on the Territory’s 
strategic position and 
competitive advantages.

The Commission is 
supported by:

 – ‘Team Territory’, a key 
reference group who 
will provide specialist 
advice to the Commission, comprised of members that 
understand the unique Territory context.  Team Territory 
will provide advice to ensure recommendations of the 
Commission are achievable and deliver real benefits to 
Territorians in the short, medium and long term

 – ‘NT Rebound’, a dedicated team of departmental staff to 
support the work of the Commission and Team Territory

 – the Central Australian Economic Reconstruction 
Committee, appointed in June 2020, to provide advice 
to the Minister for Central Australian Reconstruction on 
attracting investment, including in remote communities, 
creating jobs and ensuring priority economic projects are 
fast-tracked

 – existing East Arnhem, Big Rivers and Barkly Regional 
Economic Development Committees that have 
been refocused to provide advice to government, 
the Commission and Team Territory on the regional 
development needs and priorities of the region.

Public submissions to the Commission and Team Territory 
opened in June 2020 and encouraged Territorians, industry 
and advocacy groups and project proponents to provide their 
views and expertise on creating jobs, attracting investment, 
structural reform, building on the Territory’s advantages and 
strengthening ties with investors and trade partners.

The Commission provided its First Report to the Chief 
Minister in July 2020 with a Final Report due in  
November 2020.

The Commission is co-chaired by:

Andrew Liveris AO - a prominent business leader 
who has more than 40 years of global leadership 
experience at the Dow Chemical Company

Hon Paul Henderson AO - a strategic business 
consultant and former Territory Chief Minister who 
played a pivotal role in securing the $34 billion 
lchthys LNG project for Darwin

The Commission’s membership also includes:

Gail Kelly - former Westpac and St George Bank CEO 

Dr Martin Parkinson - served as Australia’s most 
senior Federal public servant  

Professor Mick Dodson AM - advocate, academic and 
NT Treaty Commissioner 

Hon Gary Higgins MLA - former Territory Opposition 
Leader, businessman and senior NT public servant 

Romilly Madew AO - CEO of Infrastructure Australia 
and former CEO of Green Building Council of 
Australia

Eytan Lenko – Chair and interim CEO of Beyond Zero 
Emissions, entrepreneur and climate change advocate

Positioning the 
Territory for  
growth to a  

$40 
billion  
economy by 2030. 
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KPI’s
2018–19 

Actual
2019–20 

Budget
2019–20 

Actual
Contacts with Territory Business Centres for licence and 
business services1 103 545 110 000 94 363

Businesses assisted through the Business Growth Program2 251 200 472

Percentage of businesses reporting the Business Growth 
Program is useful for their business2 94% 90% 98%

Upskills workshop participation3 534 550 0

Percentage of participants reporting Upskills workshop useful 
for their business3 89% 85%

Number of businesses supported through the innovation 
program4 134 100 112

1Decrease a result of service efficiencies through increasing availability of online self-service products, offset by a 74 per cent increase 
in phone calls due to COVID-19 stimulus grants
2Higher than estimate as total includes applicants under a revised program as part of COVID-19 response
3Nil participants in 2019-20 as workshop series were not provided while the program was being evaluated and during COVID-19
4Higher than estimate due to the extension of the Business Acceleration Program and uptake of Business Innovation Program and 
Digital Partnerships Program grants

What we achieved by output 

Businesses assisted through the 
Business Growth Program

472

Number of 
businesses 

supported through 
the innovation 

program

112

A strong and 
competitive business 

environment

Output Group: Business Support

Outcome: A strong and competitive business 
environment

Output Group is responsible for:
 – strengthening and supporting Territory business and 
industry through stimulus and targeted grant programs, 
and the provision of front-line assistance to individuals 
and small business through the department’s Territory 
Business Centres

 – implementing the Economic Development Framework’s 
‘Business Innovation Strategy’ to support diversification 
and innovative economic growth opportunities 

 – enhancing regional economic development across the 
NT through dedicated economic and small business 
champions, providing assistance to business to access 
government support, advocating for regional investment 
and coordination of major sectoral projects.

Number of businesses supported through the 
$4.9 million Biz Secure program

764
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1467 tonnes of CO2-e, equivalent to removing 407 cars 
from our roads, through 69 grants provided under the 
Smarter Business solution program.

 – Regional offices supported the development of nine 
‘Local Decision Making’ agreements with Aboriginal 
communities across the Territory, assisting in devising 
and implementing a number of significant economic 
development initiatives, such as skills training and 
business growth support to construction businesses 
owned by Gurindji Aboriginal Corporation and Jawoyn 
Association in the Big Rivers region.

 – The inaugural Barkly Mining and Energy Services Forum 
was held in Tennant Creek to support supply chain 
participation and increased private investment in the 
region, and the Barkly Mining Projects update report has 
since provided further insights 
into the development of 24 
mining projects in the Barkly.

 – Provided support to 32 
Aboriginal businesses across 
the Territory to commence 
or expand through $647 355 
in grant payments under 
the Aboriginal Business 
Development program.

Key achievements in 2019-20 
 – Enhanced customer experience and service efficiencies 
through the implementation of a Customer Service 
Strategy at the Territory Business Centres.

 – Assisted 96 individuals and 
their family members to relocate 
to the Territory, and fill 65 high 
priority occupations, through  
$304 408 in Welcome to the 
Territory Incentives Scheme 
grants.

 – Supported 764 businesses, 
through the $4.9 million Biz 
Secure program, to conduct 
security audits and upgrade 
security of their premises, 

resulting in a significant reduction in crime with 79 per 
cent of surveyed recipients reporting nil break-ins since 
the implementation of security improvements with an 
estimated economic impact of $10.2 million.

 – Assisted businesses to ‘Start, Run and Grow’ through 
2047 unique one-on-one engagements with businesses, 
providing guidance and direction to navigate regulatory 
and licensing requirements and link business with 
professional advisory support services and assistance 
available through the Territory, and administered a total 
of over $102 million in stimulus and targeted grant 
programs (refer Appendix E for more information).

 – Supported the reduction of green-house gas emissions by 

Assisted  

96 
individuals and 
their family 
members to 
relocate to the 
Territory

Administered 

$102 
million 
in stimulus 
and targeted 
grants 
programs.

 – Continue to deliver priority business and 
economic stimulus and targeted grant 
programs.

 – Review and reform the department’s suite 
of business service and support programs 
to better support businesses rebound from 
COVID-19. 

 – Progress the Territory Digital Centre 
concept, a multi-purpose facility where 
interested stakeholders can collaborate to 
develop the NT’s ICT and digital industry. 

 – Implement the Public Sector Innovation 
suite of programs.

 – Help build business capability to optimise 
local and Indigenous participation in 
defence, agri-business, space and mining 
and resources sector supply chains.  

 – Support Regional Reconstruction 
Committees to prioritise and implement 
economic development initiatives and 
projects.

 – Assist proponents of new and established 
Local Decision-Making Agreements 
in the identification, evaluation and 
implementation of economic development 
opportunities for Indigenous communities 
throughout the Territory.

Future priorities
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Output Group: Employment and Skilling

Outcome: A skilled workforce that meets the 
current and future needs of Territory employers 
and industry

Output Group is responsible for: 
 – delivering a range of workforce and training development 
services, including funded programs and the local 
coordination of major sectoral projects to enhance 
regional development of capability across the NT

 – facilitating the right service environment to support 
the current and future needs of the economy through 
workforce, training, international education, and business 
and skilled migration.

KPI’s
2018–19 

Actual
2019–20 

Budget
2019–20 

Actual
Apprenticeship and traineeship commencements1 2465 2220 1846

Apprenticeship and traineeship completions1 1002 1050 976

Training participation rate1 12% 12% 10%

Percentage of improved employment outcomes for workforce 
project participants1 70% 70% 58%

Percentage of apprentices and trainees that are Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander

30% 30% 32%

Successful training completions 82% 80% 83%

Proportion of VET graduates in employment or further study 90% 90% 92%

Aboriginal Employment Program:

– supported businesses and organisations1 102 120 76

– additional people supported in jobs1 1915 1000 666

Business and Skilled Migration visas assessed2 1360 1800 1930

Northern Territory Designated Area Migration Agreement 
endorsements3 31 40 113

Increase in international students studying in the Territory4 6% 7% 31%

1Decrease due to inability for training to be completed as a result of COVID-19
2Higher than estimate due to increased interest in the General Skilled Migration program
3Higher than estimate due to increased interest from NT employers following better settings in the Designated Area Migration 
Agreement II and MigrationNT engagement activities with employers across the regions
4Increase continues to be led by strong growth in the private VET sector. Percentage is the year on year increase for the academic year 
(December 2018 to December 2019)  

 

Funded VET 
students, in 
conjunction 

with the 
Australian 

Government

17.5K

A skilled workforce 
that meets current and 

future needs

92%
Proportion of VET graduates in 
employment or further study
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Key achievements in 2019-20 
 – Supported 19 RTOs to upgrade facilities to build training 
capacity in emerging technologies and enhance the student 
learning experience, through a $900 000 investment in 
VET infrastructure.

 – Provided flexible solutions to the NT training sector to 
continue to deliver Territory funded contracts and navigate 
COVID-19 challenges. 

 – Collaborated with the NT Department of Education and 
the Australian Government to enhance accommodation 
and training facilities at the Juno Agricultural Training 
Centre in Tennant Creek to improve student outcomes.

 – Engaged with an additional 110 businesses in the Barkly 
region to inform the community about job opportunities, 
training pathways and the department’s investment into 
skills in the region by adding to the existing suite of 29 
‘Remote Town Jobs’ profiles.

 – Completed a ‘Workforce Capacity Analysis’ to identify 
skilled workforce development opportunities specific to 
potential mining development projects in Central Australia.

 – Invested $1.25 million in meeting the training needs of 
Aboriginal people living in urban, regional and remote NT 
communities.

 – Supported 343 students to upskill for the future, through 
the award of 10 training contracts under the Territory 
Workforce 4.0 program. 

 – Met the Territory’s targets under the Skilling Australians 
Fund National Agreement, leading to additional funding 
to support apprentices and trainees. 

 – Funded 17 497 VET students, in conjunction with the 
Australian Government,  in the reporting period 1 January 
to 31 December 2019.

Top 5 industries No. of VET students

Community services, health and 
education 4644

Building and construction 2027

Primary industry 1943

Business and clerical 1888

Engineering and mining 1538

Darwin urban  
File 6  USER-ALT 62

West Arnhem 
File 4  USER-ALT 38

Darwin remote  
File 16  USER-ALT 152

Katherine
File 13  USER-ALT 133

Barkly
File 14  USER-ALT 156

Alice Springs
File 11  USER-ALT 116

East Arnhem
File 8  USER-ALT 101

Region No. of VET students

  Alice Springs 3567

  Barkly 691

  Darwin 10 610

  East Arnhem 995

  Katherine 1476

  West Arnhem 383

  Interstate 165

TOTAL 17 497

3567

691

10610

995

1476

165383

Aboriginal Responsive Skilling Grants  
summary for 2019-20

File Number of Programs   USER-ALT Number of Participants
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 – Increased the number of international students studying 
in the Territory by drawing on the experiences of current 
international students to target campaigns and working 
in partnership with education providers, business and 
multicultural communities to enhance the desirability of 
the Territory as a place to study.

 – Successfully negotiated an increase in the number 
of eligible occupations and places, amongst other 
settings, for the second year of the NT Designated Area 
Migration Agreement II. Which increased the number of 
endorsements by 182 per cent when compared to last 
year, leading to more skilled people for businesses and 
the NT population.

 – Successfully advocated for more places for skilled workers 
in the NT under the General Skilled Migration program, 
with 94 per cent of the increased allocated quota 
achieved, leading to more skilled people in the Territory.

Source country of overseas skilled workers 
nominated through the General Skilled 
Migration Program

Higher Education Schools Non-award

VET English language

International student enrolment growth 2016-2019

2016

4,000

3,500

3,000

2,500

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

0
2017 2018 2019

 India (26%)

 Nepal (18%)

 China (8%)

 Phillippines (8%)

 Pakistan (7%)

 Sri Lanka (4%)

 

Bangladesh (4%) 
Vietnam (3%)

 United Kingdom (2%)

 Nigeria (2%)

 Other (18%)

 India (26%)

 Nepal (18%)

 China (8%)

 Phillippines (8%)

 Pakistan (7%)

 Sri Lanka (4%)

 Bangladesh (4%)

 Vietnam (3%)

 United Kingdom (2%)

 Nigeria (2%)

 Other (18%)
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Future priorities  – Progress a targeted approach to 
international education, including a 
pilot program for entry of international 
students from overseas countries to the 
Territory. 

 – Deliver a Skills and Business Investment 
Migration Strategy for the Territory 
to respond to new opportunities and 
international environment. 

 – Support the Regional Reconstruction 
Committees in prioritising and 
implementing workforce development 
initiatives and projects.

 – Assist proponents of new and established 
Local Decision-Making Agreements 
in the identification, evaluation. 
and implementation of workforce 
development opportunities for Indigenous 
communities throughout the Territory.

 – Negotiate a new National Partnership 
Agreement on Skills and Workforce 
Development with the Australian 
Government.

 – Support the roll-out of the JobTrainer 
Fund with the Australian Government 
as part of the national response to 
COVID-19.

 – Roll out an apprenticeship training 
program at the Juno Agricultural 
Training Centre to support sustainable 
employment pathways for Aboriginal 
people in the remote Barkly region.

   

 

 

  

   

Accountant (General)

Electronics engineer

Registered nurse

Software engineer

Mechanical engineer

Other

CookChef
Cafe and restaurant 

manager

29%

2%

12%

2%

3%

36%

3%3%3%

 

Civil engineer
2%

Top ten 
occupations 
supported through 
a migration 
pathway to the 
Territory

 

Welfare worker
3%



Department of Trade, Business and Innovation26 

OUR ACHIEVEMENTS

Key achievements in 2019-20 
 – Completed a customer-perspective review of regulatory 
processes associated with major and significant projects to 
identify opportunities to streamline processes necessary 
for the Territory to become a globally competitive 
investment destination (beige tape review).

 – To support evidence-based decision making, advanced a 
review of the NT Regulation Making Framework targeted 
at benchmarking against best practice regulation principles.

 – Published 64 economic related publications, to support 
industry and business planning and development, 
including monthly labour market briefs, quarterly business 
confidence survey results, business count snapshots, key 
business statistics and economic infographics. 

KPI’s
2018–19 

Actual
2019–20 

Budget
2019–20 

Actual
Labour market and economic fact sheets issued1 129 70 64

Preliminary Regulatory Impact Statements (PRIS) assessed 
within 10 business days2 100% 90% 83%

Territory enterprises winning government tenders 82% 82% 81%

Business and industry confidence in the procurement system3 57% 80% -

Participants satisfied with quality of procurement training 89% 86% 94.5%

Advice on Northern Australia Development issues provided 
within agreed timeframes

89% 85% 100%

1Significant decrease in 2019-20 budget compared to last year due to responsibility for delivery of remote jobs town profiles no longer 
required. Shortfall between Budget and Actual figures due to COVID-19 impacts
2Variance due to deferral of one PRIS and extended timeframes required for one complex PRIS 
3Survey of business not undertaken in 2019-20 due to COVID-19 impacts

Output Group: Economic Strategy Policy

Outcome: Develop and coordinate delivery of 
whole-of-government economic development 
policies, strategies and projects which drive 
private investment, create jobs and grow and 
diversify the Territory economy

Output Group is responsible for: 
 – identifying and driving economic development and 
regulatory reform initiatives and undertaking economic 
analysis to support and inform advice provided to 
government

 – leading the whole-of-government procurement 
framework, including strategic procurement 
governance, reform and capability development

 – leading the Northern Australia development agenda 
and driving initiatives that support growth in key 
industry sectors

 – developing and providing advice on infrastructure 
policies and strategies, and undertaking preliminary 
planning, for major infrastructure projects and 
commercial opportunities to support private investment

 – developing and coordinating the delivery of energy 
policy and strategy and supporting the advancement of 
renewable energy investment in the Territory.

economic related publications 
to support industry and business 

planning and development

64

Continued to 
identify private 

investment 
opportunities, 
such as Darwin 

superyacht 
facilities and 
placed based 
luxury lodge 

accommodation

Grow and diversify  
the Territory  

econony

Indentified opportunities to streamline 
processes to become a globally  
competitive market
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 – Increased private sector 
investment in the space 
sector, which included the 
installation of a radio telescope 
by ArianeGroupe and the 
construction of a new ground 
station at the Centre for 
Appropriate Technology in Alice 
Springs by Viasat, through the 
delivery of the Territory Space 
Investment 2020 Action Plan. 

 – Supported the Australian Government’s Northern Australia 
Agenda by formulating the NTG submission to the Select 
Committee on its effectiveness.

 – Undertook an assessment of the market opportunities 
available in the waste and recycling industry to inform 
investment attraction activities in this growth sector.

 – To improve access to tendering information and 
opportunities for businesses, the department implemented 
year one of the three-year Procurement Capability 
Development Framework, by launching new industry and 
business guides about government procurement and a 
refreshed website. 

 – Supported improved planning and development of major 
government projects through the delivery of the NT 
Project Development Framework.

 – Completed preliminary assessment of options to meet 
water demand in the Darwin region to provide water 
security for the community  
and investors.

 – Continued to identify private investment opportunities, 
including the completion of preliminary investigations for 
Darwin superyacht facilities and placed-based luxury lodge 
accommodation offerings.  

 – Developed a least-cost implementation plan as the territory's 
initial roadmap of priorities to secure the 50 per cent 
renewable energy target by 2030.

 – Secured tariff reforms to incentivise investment in 
distributed energy resources.

 – Developed and published the NT Renewable Hydrogen 
Strategy, setting out the NTG’s five-point green hydrogen plan.

 – Developed a Remote Power System Strategy designed 
to displace high cost diesel generation, establish pilot 
renewable projects, and encourage private sector 
involvement.

Future priorities  – Continue to shape and advance 
regulatory reform initiatives, including 
implementation of a ‘best-practice’ 
Regulation Making Framework for the NT 
in support of the Territory being a globally 
competitive investment destination.

 – Review and enhance suite of economic 
analysis tools and publications to improve 
evidence-based decision making and 
evaluation capacity. 

 – Advance micro-economic reform  
agenda initiatives arising from the  
A Plan for Budget Repair: Final Report 
recommendations.

 – Develop a framework for value sharing and 
government engagement in and delivery 
of strategic development precincts to 
promote a private investment pipeline.

 – Advance the Value for Territory 
Assessment Framework, a Five-Year 
Procurement Strategic Roadmap and the 
Procurement Capability Framework.

 – Develop a new Territory Space Strategy 
and ICT Industry Growth Plan to support 
a capable and innovative local business 
sector.

 – Shape the new Five-Year Northern 
Australia Development Plan.

 – Develop initiatives that support growth in 
the following sectors:

 – waste and recycling
 – minerals
 – marine services.

 – Finalise detailed business case for the 
Darwin region water supply options to 
meet future water demand and advance 
the NT Strategic Water Plan to support 
evidence-based water resource and supply 
planning and management.

 – Conduct preliminary investigations 
into facilitated investment project 
opportunities, including for the seafood 
processing and drone sectors.

 – Implement a framework for competitive 
provision of Essential Systems Services 
which maximises opportunities for private 
investment.

 – Establish the first Darwin-Katherine 
System Plan to support the efficient uptake 
of renewable energy sources in the Darwin 
and Katherine regions.

 – Advance rollout of the Remote Power 
System Strategy which increases 
penetration of renewable energy 
generation in regional and remote 
Northern Territory.

Delivered 
Territory 
Space 
Investment 
2020 Action 
Plan
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 – Case-managed a pipeline of more than 200 market-led 
projects in the sectors of tourism, agribusiness, mining, 
gas manufacturing and services, including two major 
projects that are now shovel-ready with almost all 
approvals in place.

 – Advanced the Territory’s international engagement with 
its near neighbours through a new three-year Strategic 
Partnership Agreement with Timor-Leste.  

 – Raised the Territory’s profile as a trade and investment 
destination through a number of delegations (refer 
Appendix G) including:

 – the Reaching South event and associated activities in 
Shenzhen, Guangzhou and Greater Bay area, China, 
which attracted more than 350 Chinese delegates. All 
delegates surveyed generated new leads or contacts 
from the delegation

Key achievements in 2019-20 
 – Provided whole-of-government coordination and 
facilitation of major projects, including responsibility for 
the delivery of 11 facilitated investment projects valued 
at over $30 billion (refer Appendix F).

 – Supported the creation of 670 new jobs through 
approved funding for eight Territory businesses totalling 
$27.1 million, including:

 – Asia Pacific Aircraft Solutions Ltd to expand their 
business of housing and maintaining international and 
domestic commercial aircraft at Alice Springs Airport

 – Spee3D to expand their business through 
commercialisation of their patented three dimensional 
metal printing machines

 – Vocus to upgrade their existing fibre optic network to 
facilitate increase data consumption and capacity.

Output Group: Investment Attraction  
and Facilitation

Outcome: A doubling of the Territory’s growth  
rate to 5 per cent 

Output Group is responsible for providing strategic 
leadership and coordination of the whole-of-government 
approach to trade and investment attraction, including:

 – delivering a pipeline of government facilitated and private 
investment projects

 – positioning the Territory as the destination to live, work, 
visit, study, do business, trade and invest

 – partnering with industry and business to increase trade, 
export and investment

 – engaging locally, nationally and internationally to build 
strategic relationships.

KPI’s
2018–19 

Actual
2019–20 

Budget
2019–20 

Actual
Stakeholder satisfaction with facilitation of trade and 
investment opportunities for Territory companies 85% 85% 94%

Number of visits to international priority markets 11 14 15

Stakeholder satisfaction with Trade Support Scheme 100% 85% 100%

New projects with major project status 1 3 3

Facilitated investment projects under management 11 13 11

DefenceNT advice provided within agreed timeframes 90% 85% 85%

Value of  
11 facilitated 

projects

$30B

A doubling of the 
Territory’s growth rate 

to 5 per cent

670
New jobs through approved 

funding for 8 Territory  
businesses totalling $27.1M

Raised the Territory’s profile as a 
trade and investment destination 
through a number of delegations
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 – partnering with Darwin Major Business Group to  
deliver the ‘Facing North’ event in Canberra on  
9 September 2019, which provided a platform  
to market opportunities in the Territory to the  
400 attendees. 81 per cent of delegates surveyed  
generated new leads or contacts as a result. 

 – the NT and Brunei Indonesia Malaysia Philippines – East 
ASEAN Growth Area (BIMP-EAGA) dialogue meeting in 
Sarawak, Malaysia

 – an investment delegation to China with three Territory 
minerals and petroleum projects, attending 18 targeted 
investor meetings and organising two sector-specific 
seminars attended by 60 investors. 

 – Advanced the promotion of the Territory’s investment 
opportunities through the delivery of new marketing 
strategies and increased focus on international 
engagement with Indonesia, Timor-Leste, Japan, China, 
South Korea and United States of America (USA). This 
contributed to  more than 21 000 unique visits to the 
department’s investment website and 50 new investor 
queries.

 – Assisted 40 businesses with export marketing activities 
through $322 839 in grants under the Trade Support 
Scheme, including the Trade Support Scheme COVID-19 
quick response grant. 

 – Supported the niche capabilities of NT businesses and 
their applications to Australia’s defence force, including 
assisting and facilitating the award of contracts to 
Territory enterprises such as SPEE3D, Universal Site 
Monitoring and Asia Pacific Aircraft Storage.

 – Promoted the NT as a preferred posting location through 
engagement with Australian Defence Force (ADF) Career 

Managers, and families of ADF 
personnel, to provide information 
and advice on postings to Darwin 
or Katherine.

 – Released the Alice Springs Senior’s 
Lifestyle Accommodation Expression 
of Interest into the market and 
completed the evaluation phase 
for the Darwin Urban and Darwin Rural Senior’s Lifestyle 
Accommodation. This project will build the Territory’s 
population and help grow the economy while creating jobs.

 – Advocated the Territory’s potential as a critical minerals 
producing, processing and manufacturing centre to the 
Australian Government and to the Governments of the 
USA, France and Japan in a number of forums.

 – Partnered with Tourism Australia and Austrade (Hong 
Kong) to stage the annual Australian Hotel Investment 
VIP Luncheon in Hong Kong in October 2019 for 80 
international investors, investment influencers and hotel 
developers.

 – Launched the Gas Service and Supply Plan with a goal to 
double local participation in the gas industry supply chain to 
50 per cent by 2025, with the potential to add an additional 
$1 billion to the Territory economy over the next ten years. 

 – In collaboration with the Department of Infrastructure, 
Planning and Logistics (DIPL), drove the establishment 
of a gas manufacturing hub to increase employment 
opportunities and advance growth and benefits for 
Territorians through the commencement of the formulation 
of a Master Plan for the development of a clean energy, 
advanced manufacturing hub at Middle Arm to drive the 
establishment of a gas manufacturing hub.

Future priorities  – Deliver targeted investment attraction and 
trade initiatives and plans.

 – Implement the refreshed NT Defence and 
National Security Strategy 2025. 

 – Advance major projects including:
 – 6 mines in Central Australia
 – Sun Cable ASEAN Australia Power Link 
 – Seafarms – Project Sea Dragon.

 – Significantly advance Ship Lift approvals 
and procurement so that the project can 
move to the construction phase.

 – Deliver the Gas Action Plan.
 – Progress the Master Plan for the Middle Arm 
Lower Emissions Manufacturing precinct to 
deliver jobs and growth for the Territory.

 – Partner with business to create jobs by 
expending the Local Jobs Fund. 

 – Implement recommendations from the 
Territory Economic Reconstruction 
Commission report aimed at attracting 
private investment, leading to a stronger, 
more diverse economy, more jobs and 
population growth.

 – Operationalise the Client Relationship 
Management system and other business 
intelligence tools to improve our processes 
and enable us to become the easiest place 
to do business.

Pipeline of  
more than  

200  
market-led 
projects
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Future priorities

 – Prudently managed the department’s budget to result in 
a favourable financial position in comparison to the final 
approved budget for the 2019-20 year.

 – Reviewed the grant life cycle of the department’s targeted 
programs and decreased processing time by implementing 
streamlined assessment and approval processes.

 – Implemented a centralised grants model for high-value 
and project-based funding agreements to improve 
management oversight, ensure consistent program 
service standards and client management approach, 
improve budgeting and cash-flow forecasting and 
strengthen evidence based evaluation of whole-of-
program impact.

 – Successfully delivered the department’s major events, 
including the Skills, Employment and Careers Expo, 
NT Training Awards, October Business Month and the 
Aboriginal Economic Development Forum.

 – Delivered the department’s 24 month marketing program 
including targeted marketing and engagement activities, 
key campaigns included:

 – Operation Rebound – released the Green Paper and 
communication strategy

 – Jobs, Rescue and Recovery Plan – delivered strategic 
communications and marketing to support the Jobs, 
Rescue and Recovery Plan and stimulus grants, in 
response to the initial economic impacts of COVID-19

 – Investment Territory – raised the profile of the 
department’s investment attraction division

 – strategic marketing of major infrastructure projects and 
investment opportunities. 

Output Group: Corporate and  
Shared Services

Outcome: Improved organisational performance 
through strategic and governance leadership and 
the provision of appropriate corporate services 
functions.

Output Group is responsible for providing a range of 
corporate and governance services to support the 
department’s functions including strategic planning, 
governance and risk management services, financial 
management, performance reporting and corporate 
communications services.

The department also receives corporate and infrastructure 
support services from DCIS and DIPL, free of charge.

In July 2019, the Corporate Services Reform 3 program 
commenced the process to consolidate corporate services 
across the NTPS into DCIS.  In addition to the existing 
shared services, DCIS’ Enterprise Corporate Services 
Division includes seven functional groups servicing 
whole-of-government (Procurement, Human Resources, 
Information Management, Data, Digital, Web and Fleet).  
This is the third major reform of corporate services 
functions in the Territory public sector, presenting the 
opportunity to further improve efficiency, scale and 
consistency across government and streamline operations. 

Key achievements in 2019-20 
 – Updated the DTBI Strategic Directions 2017-2021 
to provide clear direction on the department’s key 
deliverables for 2019-20.

 – Continued implementation of internal audit 
recommendations to ensure continued improvements in 
business processes.

 – Further integrated the department’s adoption of the risk 
management framework. 

 – Refresh the department’s performance 
reporting systems to support improved 
performance monitoring, evaluation and 
reporting.

 – Deliver a revised risk management plan 
and further enhance risk management 
capacity at a whole-of-department level to 
support evidence-based decision making. 

 – Develop the 2021 – 2025 Strategic 
Directions.

 – Continue to identify efficiencies in 
administrative processes and embed 
a risk-appetite approach to streamline 
processes and support continuous 
improvement in our business.

 – Continue to deliver a high level strategic 
engagement and communication service 
to the department.

Delivered the 
department’s 24 month 

marketing program $ Managed the 
department’s 

budget
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Our staff profile

OVERVIEW 2019-20 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17
Paid employees* 259 268 264 247

Employee turnover 13.2% 16.5% 16.1% 18.0%

Average age 42 42 42 43

Aboriginal staff 31 (12%) 29 (10.8%) 27 (10.2%) 26 (11.0%)

Staff with a disability 10 (4%) 12 (4.5%) 13 (4.9%) 7 (2.9%)

Employees from culturally diverse 
backgrounds 24 (9%) 20 (7.5%) 21 (8%) 6 (2.5%)

* Based on number of adjusted paid employees as at the last pay of the financial year

 

259 
Paid employees

102 
Staff that have been 
with the department 
for over 10 years.

 

184 
Permanent/ongoing 
employees

242 
Full time  
employees

Darwin

Jabiru

Katherine

Tennant Creek

Alice Springs

Nhulunbuy

234
21

5

4

13

Location of paid employees
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Staff by employment type

Staff by employment basis

Staff by classification

Paid 
employees Percentage

  Permanent / Ongoing 184 71.0%

  Temporary / Fixed Period 47 18.1%

  Executive Contractor 25 9.7%

  Casual 3 1.2%

TOTAL 259 100% 71%

18.1%

9.7%
1.2%

Paid 
employees Percentage

  Full time 242 93.4%

  Part time 17 6.6%

TOTAL 259 100%

93.4%

6.6%

Paid 
employees Percentage

  Trainee 1 0.4%

  Administrative Officer 168 64.9%

  Senior Administrative Officer 61 23.5%

  Executive Contract Officer 25 9.7%

  Technical 4 1.5%

TOTAL 259 100%

64.9%

23.5%

9.7%

1.5% 0.4%
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Length of Service
Paid 

employees Percentage

  <1 year 41 15%

  >1 year <5 years 83 31%

  >5 years <10 years 47 17%

  >10 years 102 37%

TOTAL 273 100%

Years of service

* Figures based on headcount and includes staff on leave without pay

Milestones reached 
during the year

9% 
Employees from 
culturally diverse 
backgrounds

12% 
Aboriginal staff 
employed in the 
department

4% 
Staff with  
a disability

1  
STAFF 

REACHED

9  
STAFF 

REACHED

10  
YEARS

6  
STAFF 

REACHED

20  
YEARS

30  
YEARS

15%

31%

17%

37%

Diversity and inclusion
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Internal training and development opportunities

There were 447 internally procured non-accredited training 
sessions accessed by staff.

Some of the modules accessed by employees through the 
MyLearning site:

 – Code of Conduct
 – Procurement
 – eRecruit
 – the Client Relationship Management System
 – WHS Framework. 

External training and development opportunities

Publicly available non-accredited training was attended by 
49 staff. 

Topics included:
 – project management
 – policy
 – business acumen
 – WHS
 – leadership
 – writing and communication skills.

Study assistance

The department supports employees in gaining relevant 
professional and technical skills through higher education 
studies.

Study assistance to undertake study ranging from 
certificates to masters level programs was accessed by  
11 employees.

Financial assistance of $23 495 was provided to  
11 employees, an average of $2136 per participating 
employee.

Areas of study supported included:
 – Bachelor of Accounting
 – Bachelor of Business
 – Graduate Certificate in Strategic Management
 – Graduate Diploma of Australian Migration Law and 
Practice

 – Master of Business Administration
 – Master of Law.

Actual spend on training

2019-20 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17
Actual 
spend $250 795 $235 902 $293 454 $257 779

People and Culture Strategy  
2017-2021
The department’s People and Culture Strategy 2017-2021 
sets out four inter-related strategic aims that will support 
the delivery of our strategic priorities and will further 
embed our values and behaviours. The four strategic aims 
continue to be:

 – strong leadership and people management

 – high performing and capable workforce

 – diversity, inclusion and wellbeing

 – workforce planning.

This strategy plays a critical role in safeguarding our 
workplace culture and ensuring a progressive, sustainable 
and healthy working environment for everyone. 

Developing our people
DCIS Human Resources facilitated, supported and provided 
advice to the department on strategic, corporate and 
operational professional development for its workforce.

myPerformance
The department conducted internal training on the 
myPerformance system, with 122 participants.

55.2 per cent of staff had performance plans in place. 

Professional development
Throughout the year and during performance management 
discussions, staff were encouraged to identify and 
undertake suitable development opportunities to assist with 
role-specific capability.

The department supported staff to gain professional 
development through the:

 – study assistance policy

 – membership of professional organisation policy

 – dedicated professional development opportunities page 
on the staff intranet

 – department jobs board on the staff intranet.

447 
Internally procured non-accredited training 
sessions accessed by staff
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Male to female ratio

The ratio of males to females 
for the department was  
34 per cent (87) male and 66 
per cent (172) female.

Ratio of males to females in 
senior management roles 
(SAO2 and above) was 47 per 
cent (24) male and 53 per cent 
(27) female.

Aboriginal staff

There were three Aboriginal employees in senior 
management roles.

The department implemented the NTG Aboriginal 
Employment and Career Development strategy through:

 – recruiting through the DCIS Aboriginal Employment 
Program

 – offering mentoring and coaching to Aboriginal employees

 – offering Cultural Awareness training

 – the department specific strategy called Aboriginal 
Employment and Career Development Strategy 2018 to 
2022.

Early careers programs
During the year the department engaged:

 – 2 trainees under the NTPS Traineeship Program

 – 3 students undertaking an internship.

Corporate induction and orientation
Designed to support new employees settle into their roles 
by providing information about:

 – the department

 – its strategic priorities

 – its culture 

 – key policies and procedures

 – awareness of corporate functions

 – the performance agreement processes

 – entitlements and conditions of service

 – appropriate workplace behaviour and the NTPS Code of 
Conduct

 – employees’ accountability and responsibilities under the 
PSEMA and WHS.

Diversity and inclusion
Equal employment opportunity voluntary identification 
increased by 4 in 2019-20 to 65.

There were 24 staff with a culturally diverse background,  
10 staff identified as having a disability and 31 Aboriginal 
staff.

The department implemented inclusive workforce practices 
through:

 – actively promoting Mental Health Awareness month

 – recognising International Day of People with Disabilities

 – delivery of mental health and disability awareness training

 – promoting and encouraging use of flexible work 
arrangements as an option to support needs of people 
with disability and caring responsibilities

 – actively participating in NAIDOC Week celebrations

 – promoting special measures plan

 – celebrating Harmony Day

 – attending NTPS wide Inclusion events

 – promoting online disability training.

47%  53% 
Ratio of male to 
female in senior 
management roles 
(SAO2 and above) 
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Industrial relations

The department is committed to working in partnership 
with employees and unions.

Employees are supported through change management 
processes to ensure successful transition throughout 
restructures and reassignment of duties.

No industrial relation claims were lodged against the 
department in 2019-20.

Incidents, early interventions and workers 
compensation

INCIDENT TYPE 2019-20 2018-19
Being hit by objects - 1

Body stressing 1 -

Chemical and substances 2 1

Contact with hot objects - 2

Environmental factors 1 -

Hazards - -

Hitting objects - -

Mental factors - -

Slips, trips and falls 1 2

Vehicle incidents and 
other 1 1

TOTAL 6 7

Employee Assistance Program

The department provided free confidential counselling 
for employees and their family. Employees can choose 
counselling sessions from the government panel of 
providers and can access up to three visits for any particular 
matter.

The Employee Assistance Program also provides support to 
managers and employees on specific workplace issues.

2019-20 2018-19
Number of employees 
or family members who 
accessed the program

59 77

Number of sessions 
attended 93 145

Health and wellbeing
The department is committed to the health and wellbeing of 
its employees, including creating a positive work environment 
where they feel safe, valued and supported. The WHS 
Management Committee continues to ensure departmental 
compliance with legislative requirements and internal 
processes.

Flexible work arrangements

The department supported family friendly and flexible 
working arrangements that met the operational needs 
of the department and its employees which impacted 
positively on employees’ health and wellbeing, commitment, 
productivity and engagement.

Flexible work arrangements were accessed by 61 staff, with 
an increase in home based work agreements as a result of 
COVID-19.

 – 11 employees accessed flexible working hours (flextime)

 – 20 individual flexible work agreement

 – 2 ongoing part time employment contracts

 – 19 home based work agreements

 – 8 employees who accessed recreation leave at half pay

 – 1 employee purchased additional leave

This included 13 flexible work arrangements for employees 
who are 55 years of age and over.

Outside employment

The department supported outside employment in 
accordance with Section 19 of the Code of Conduct. 
In 2019-20, 22 outside employment applications were 
received and approved.

Flu vaccinations

The department actively promoted the availability of the 
free annual flu vaccination program for all staff.

The flu vaccination program had 104 employees participate.
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EMPLOYMENT INSTRUCTION AGENCY ACTIONS

1. Filling vacancies

Agency must develop a procedure for filling vacancies 
consistent with the PSEMA, its subordinate legislation and 
any relevant award or enterprise agreement.

The department maintained streamlined recruitment 
processes and continued to mandate the Special Measures 
Plan, providing for priority consideration of Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander applicants

Agency recruitment actions:
 – 100 vacancies advertised  
(54 ongoing and 46 fixed period)

 – 48 new commencements to the NTG

 – 49 transfers in from other public employers

 – 32 separations (resignations)

 – 59 transfers out (to other public employers)

2. Probation

Agency must develop a probation procedure consistent 
with the PSEMA, its subordinate legislation and any 
relevant award or enterprise agreement.

Probation guidelines and procedures are available on the 
intranet and managed by DCIS Human Resources

Agency probation statistics:
 – 22 probation confirmations

 – 7 probation auto-extensions

 – 1 probation extension to 12 months

 – 0 probation terminations

3. Natural justice

The principles of natural justice are observed in all 
dealings with employees and are reflected in relevant 
policies and procedures.

Information on the application of natural justice 
is provided through induction, information on the 
department intranet site, information sessions and 
through specific case management. Natural justice is 
applied to all appropriate processes.

4. Employee performance and development systems

Agency must develop and implement a performance 
development system consistent with the PSEMA, 
its subordinate legislation and any relevant award or 
enterprise agreement. Department to report annually to 
the Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment 
(OCPE) on management, training and employee 
development programs.

Department employee myPerformance discussions and 
plans are completed and submitted to Human Resources 
annually. The myPerformance is based on individual 
performance and development and establishes a link 
between individual performance, position responsibilities, 
department culture and values and the department’s 
strategic directions. The process allows for future planning 
activities and training to meet the needs of the individual 
and the work unit.

myPerformance had a 56% completion rate of 
performance development plans.

Reporting against Employment Instructions
The PSEMA requires performance to be reported against each Employment Instruction
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EMPLOYMENT INSTRUCTION AGENCY ACTIONS

5. Medical examinations

Agency may engage a health practitioner in accordance 
with the PSEMA and Employment Instruction Number 3.

Medical examinations may be arranged for a number 
of reasons under the PSEMA or relevant enterprise 
agreement. These referrals are managed by Human 
Resources in relation to case management matters and are 
highly confidential.

The department has internal operating procedures for 
medical referrals and all referrals are provided in writing to 
the employee.

There was one referral for an independent medical 
examination in 2019–20.

6. Performance and inability

Agency to provide OCPE with information relating to 
performance and inability.

The department supports employees through the 
performance framework, which includes regular 
performance feedback and development. Information on 
the performance framework is available on the intranet.

Formal performance and inability is managed through 
Human Resources in relation to case management matters 
and are highly confidential.

There was one formal performance and inability process 
instigated under Part 7 of the PSEMA during 2019–20.

7. Discipline

Agency may develop discipline policy consistent with 
the PSEMA, its subordinate legislation and any relevant 
award or enterprise agreement, and to provide OCPE with 
information relating to disciplinary processes.

Agency information on managing employee performance 
is available on the staff intranet. Supporting information 
in relation to staff conduct, delivery of services and use of 
government resources is delivered through the induction 
program.

Disciplinary matters are resolved through appropriate 
management actions with the support of Human 
Resources and in accordance with department procedures 
and OCPE instructions.

There were no formal discipline processes undertaken 
during 2019–20.

8. Internal department complaints and Section 59 
grievance reviews

Agency will develop an internal employee grievance 
handling policy and procedure consistent with the PSEMA, 
its subordinate legislation and any relevant award or 
enterprise agreement.

The department’s Resolution of Grievances Policy and 
related procedures are available to staff and managers. 
Employees and managers are encouraged to resolve 
complaints informally through the internal process under 
an early intervention model .

There were no formal complaints lodged during 2019–20.
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EMPLOYMENT INSTRUCTION AGENCY ACTIONS

9. Employment records

Agency must comply with the requirements of the 
Information Act 2002 (NT) regarding correction, collection 
and handling of personal information contained in an 
employee’s employment record.

In conjunction with the Information Management Unit, 
Human Resources maintains an approved file plan and 
ensures that any information detailed under Employment 
Instruction number 9 is placed on an employee’s personnel 
file and access to personal information is restricted.

10. Equality of employment opportunity programs

Agency must develop an Equality of Employment 
Opportunity Program consistent with the PSEMA, its 
subordinate legislation, the Anti-Discrimination Act 1992 
and any relevant award or enterprise agreement. 
Department to report annually to OCPE on programs and 
initiatives.

The department has developed a People and Culture 
Strategy which includes an Aboriginal Employment and 
Career Development and Disability Plan.

The NTPS Special Measures plan remains mandatory 
across the department to provide priority consideration to 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander applicants.

The department actively supported workshops which 
focus on equality of employment through promotion 
of the OCPE Disability Confidence and Challenging 
Unconscious Bias programs.

11. Occupational health and safety standard programs

Agency must ensure the application of appropriate 
occupational health and safety standards and programs.

The department has a WHS Policy and Framework that 
is monitored through a WHS Management Committee 
comprising representatives from a range of workplace 
locations. WHS committees are established to assist the 
department meet its safety obligations towards staff and 
promote WHS awareness in the workplace. Information is 
available on the intranet.

In 2019–20, there were six incidents registered, compared 
with seven in 2018–19.

12. Code of Conduct

The Code of Conduct stipulates the basic level of conduct 
expected of public sector officers as defined in the 
PSEMA.

The department provides information on the Code of 
Conduct through induction/orientation processes, online 
through the myLearning site, and through a range of 
information sessions and case management matters.  
The Code of Conduct is also promoted through sound 
management practices.

Breaches of the Code of Conduct are addressed 
immediately and appropriately.

13. Appropriate workplace behaviour

Agency must develop and implement a policy and 
procedure to foster appropriate workplace behaviour 
and a culture of respect, and to deal effectively with 
inappropriate workplace behaviour and bullying.

Information concerning appropriate workplace behaviours 
is delivered through the staff induction process. 
Behaviours are reinforced through modelling responsible 
leadership behaviours aligned to values.

Inappropriate workplace behaviours are addressed 
immediately in collaboration with Human Resources, 
management and the employee/s.
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EMPLOYMENT INSTRUCTION AGENCY ACTIONS

14. Redeployment and redundancy procedures

Agency must ensure redeployment processes are 
consistent with the PSEMA, its subordinate legislation 
and any relevant award or enterprise agreement, and that 
redeployees are provided with an appropriate level of 
assistance and case management.

The department actively manages redeployees and 
unattached employees to find new ongoing positions. 
Where required, additional support is provided through 
development activities. Similarly, where the department 
employs a former redeployee, performance development 
is provided in the new role.

In 2019–20 the department had no redeployees.

There were no voluntary redundancies in line with 
legislative compliance due to departmental restructures.

15. Special measures

Agency must ensure the application of appropriate 
Special Measures Plans consistent with the PSEMA, its 
subordinate legislation, the Anti-Discrimination Act 1992 
and any relevant award or enterprise agreement.

The department has two special measures plans in place. 

Disability Employment

One employee is employed under the NTPS Disability 
Employment Program and is supported in the workplace 
through individual disability support plans.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander  
people Special Measures Plan

The department’s Aboriginal employment target for  
2019–20 was 14.6%. At 30 June 2020, the department 
had 31 employees (12%) identifying as Aboriginal.

Special Measures Statistics:
 – 99 vacancies advertised under special measures

 – 123 special measures applications received

 – 6 found successful

 – 0 found suitable but unsuccessful

 – 95 found unsuitable

 – 8 still pending recruitment

 – 9 applications to cancelled vacancies

 – 5 withdrawn applications

 – 0 vacancies advertised with an approved exemption 
for special measures from the Commissioner for Public 
Employment

There were 2342 applications received during  
2019–20, of which 5 per cent were from special measures 
applicants.

The department is currently reviewing its strategies to 
increase the number of Aboriginal employees.
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0.6%

Our highlights
The department ended the 2019-20 financial year within  
its approved budget and with an operating deficit of  
$2.47 million, an improved outcome compared to the 
revised budgeted deficit of $10.27 million. 

The improved outcome was as a result of underspends 
in operational expenditure, offset by over expenditure in 
the COVID-19 Jobs Rescue and Recovery Plan and Home 
Renovation grants.

Based on the combined operating and asset results, the 
department achieved its overall budget responsibilities in 
2019-20.

Income

The department recorded total income of $241.93 million in 
2019-20, an increase of $68.63 million compared to last year.

The department’s predominant source of income was NTG 
appropriations ($212.17 million) which made up 87.7 per 
cent of the department’s total income in 2019-20.

The increase in revenue was mainly as a result of additional 
funding received for the COVID-19 Jobs Rescue and 
Recovery Plan.

 

Other sources of income included Commonwealth 
appropriations totalling $17.54 million, notional income of 
$9.16 million to recognise the value of corporate services 
provided free of charge by DCIS and DIPL and other minor 
sources of income totalling $3.06 million.

Total income of  
in 2019-20, an increase 

of $68.63 million 
compared to last year.

Total expenses for  
2019-20, was  
 an increase of  
$63.27 million.

$242M $244M

Amount
$000 %

  NT Output appropriation 212 169 87.7

  Commonwealth Output appropriation 17 543 7.3

  Services received free of charge 9 155 3.8

  Sales of goods and services 1 096 0.4

  Grants and subsidies 474 0.2

  Other income 1 489 0.6

Total 241 927 100

Income by category

87.7%

7.3%
3.8%

0.4% 0.2%
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Expenses

The department’s total expenses for 2019-20 was  
$244.40 million, an increase of $63.27 million compared  
to last year. 

The increase in expenses was as a result of increased 
grant funding paid under the COVID-19 Jobs Rescue and 
Recovery Plan and the Home Renovation grant. Apart from 
a corresponding increase in the offset expenditure for 
services received free of charge, there was a decrease in 
expenditure across all other expense categories.

 

Grant expenditure remained the department’s largest 
expense component at $189.84 million, making up 77.7 per 
cent of total expenses.

Employee expenses for the year was $31.58 million and made 
up 12.9 per cent of total expenses. There was a decrease in 
employee expenses this year compared to last year and the 
actual expense was within one per cent of budget.

Amount
$000 %

  Grants and subsidies 189 837 77.7

  Employee expenses 31 576 12.9

  Purchases of goods and services 12 354 5.1

  Other administrative expenses 10 631 4.3

Total 244 399 100

Balance sheet

The department’s net assets as at 30 June 2020 were  
$36.64 million, comprised of $80.86 million in total assets 
offset by $44.22 million in total liabilities.

The department’s total assets increased by $35.74 million 
compared to last year, predominantly due to an increase in  

 

cash assets committed to the COVID-19 Jobs Rescue and 
Recovery Plan.

Total liabilities increased by $38.5 million compared to last 
year, largely due to an increase in accrued grant expenditure 
resulting from the COVID-19 Jobs Rescue and Recovery Plan.

Expenses by category

77.7%

4.3%
5.1%

12.9%
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We certify that the attached financial statements for the Department of Trade, Business and Innovation have been prepared 
based on proper accounts and records in accordance with the prescribed format, the Financial Management Act 1995 and 
Treasurer’s Directions.

We further state that the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance sheet, statement of 
changes in equity, cash flow statement, and notes to and forming part of the financial statements, presents fairly the financial 
performance and cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2020 and the financial position on that date.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars included in the financial 
statements misleading or inaccurate.

Certification of the financial statements

  

Shaun Drabsch  Sophia Tutton
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 

28 August 2020  28 August 2020
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Comprehensive operating statement
For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 
 

Note 2020

$000

2019

$000
INCOME
Grants and subsidies revenue 4a

Current 376 555

Capital 99 -

Appropriation 4b

Output 212,169 148,553

Commonwealth 17,543 17,849

Sales of goods and services 4c 1,096 511

Interest revenue - 2

Goods and services received free of charge 5 9,155 4,765

Other income 4d 1,489 1,060

TOTAL INCOME  3 241,927 173,295

EXPENSES  
Employee expenses 31,576 32,705

Administrative expenses

Purchases of goods and services 6 12,354 16,211

Repairs and maintenance - 107

Depreciation and amortisation 11, 12, 13 1,303 1,595

Other administrative expenses1 9,329 4,816

Grants and subsidies expenses

Current 134,014 110,317

Capital 55,823 15,382

TOTAL EXPENSES 3 244,399 181,133

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (2,472) (7,838)

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - -

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT (2,472) (7,838)

The comprehensive operating statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements. 
1) Includes DCIS services charged and DIPL repairs and maintenance charges.
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Balance sheet
As at 30 June 2020       

Note 2020

$000

2019

$000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and deposits 8 62,595 24,805

Receivables 10 2,113 2,494

Prepayments 346 446

Total current assets 65,054 27,745

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 11, 18 15,802 17,105

Intangibles 12, 18 - 266

Heritage and cultural assets 13, 18 7 7

Total non-current assets 15,809 17,378

TOTAL ASSETS 80,864 45,123

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Payables 14 38,585 1,073

Provisions 15 4,862 4,235

Other liabilities 16 275 446

Total current liabilities 43,722 5,754

Non-Current liabilities

Other liabilities 16 500 -

Total Non-current liabilities 500 -

TOTAL LIABILITIES 44,222 5,754

NET ASSETS 36,642 39,369

EQUITY
Capital 48,777 49,033

Accumulated funds (12,135) (9,664)

TOTAL EQUITY 36,642 39,369

The balance sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.



ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020 49 

OUR FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2020    

Note
 Equity at  

1 July 
Comprehensive 

result

Transactions 
with owners in 

their capacity 
as owners

Equity at  
30 June 

  $000 $000 $000 $000
2019-20
Accumulated funds (9,664) (2,472) - (12,135)

(9,664) (2,472) - (12,135)

Capital – transactions with owners

Equity injections

Capital appropriation 1,964 - - 1,964

Equity transfers in 47,446 - 9 47,456

Other equity injections 30,013 - - 30,014

Equity withdrawals

Capital withdrawal (15,210) - - (15,210)

Equity transfers out (15,180) - (266) (15,446)

Total equity at end of financial year 39,369 (2,472) (256) 36,642

2018-19
Accumulated funds (1,826) (7,838) - (9,664)

(1,826) (7,838) - (9,664)

Capital – transactions with owners

Equity injections

Capital appropriation 1,964 - - 1,964

Equity transfers in 46,727 - 720 47,447

Other equity injections 18,012 - 12,000 30,012

Equity withdrawals

Capital withdrawal (15,210) - - (15,210)

Equity transfers out (15,100) - (80) (15,180)

    

Total equity at end of financial year 34,567 (7,838) 12,640 39,369

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Cash flow statement
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 2020

$000

2019

$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating receipts

Grants and subsidies received
Current 376 555
Capital 99 -

Appropriation 
Output 212,169 148,553

Commonwealth 17,543 17,849
Receipts from sales of goods and services 9,480 8,072
Interest received - 2
Total operating receipts 239,667 175,031

Operating payments
Payments to employees 30,733 32,817
Payments for goods and services 18,656 24,083
Grants and subsidies paid

Current 132,270 110,317
Capital 20,219 15,382

Total operating payments 201,878 182,599
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 9 37,790 (7,568)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing receipts
Repayment of advances  - 1
Total investing receipts - 1

Investing payments
Purchases of assets - 63
Advances and investing payments - 2
Total investing payments - 65
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities - (64)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Financing receipts
Equity injections

Other equity injections - 12,000
Total financing receipts - 12,000

Financing payments
Total financing payments - -
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 9 - 12,000
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 37,790 4,368
Cash at beginning of financial year 24,805 20,437

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 8 62,595 24,805

The cash flow statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Index of notes to the financial statements

Note

1. Objectives and funding

2. Statement of significant accounting policies 

3. Comprehensive operating statement by output group

INCOME

4a. Grants and subsidies revenue 

4b. Appropriation

4c. Sales of goods and services 

4d. Other income 

5. Goods and services received free of charge 

EXPENSES

6. Purchases of goods and services 

7. Write-offs, postponements, waivers, gifts and ex gratia payments 

ASSETS

8. Cash and deposits

9. Cash flow reconciliation 

10. Receivables 

11. Property, plant and equipment 

12. Intangibles

13. Heritage and cultural assets

LIABILITIES

14. Payables

15. Provisions

16. Other liabilities

17. Commitments

OTHER DISCLOSURES

18. Fair value measurement

19. Financial instruments

20. Related parties

21. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

22. Events subsequent to balance date

23. Budgetary information
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DTF DTSC DPIR Total
ASSETS $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash 65 12 29 106

65 12 29 106

LIABILITIES
Payables - 1 2 3

Provisions 65 11 27 103

65 12 29 106

Net assets - - - -

1. Objectives and funding

The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation is the 
Northern Territory (NT) Public Sector’s coordinating agency 
for economic development. With a vision for a strong 
vibrant economy for all Territorians, our mission is to drive 
private investment and create jobs. 

Additional information in relation to the Department of 
Trade, Business and Innovation and its principal activities 
may be found in the body of the annual report.

The department is predominantly funded and therefore 
dependent, on the receipt of parliamentary appropriations. 
The financial statements encompass all funds through which 
the agency controls to carry on its functions and deliver 
outputs. For reporting purposes, outputs delivered by the 
agency are summarised into several output groups. Note 3 
provides summarised financial information in the form of a 
comprehensive operating statement by the output group. 

a) Machinery of government changes
Transfers in 

Details of transfer: The Office of Investment Attraction 
transferred to the Department of Trade, Business and 
Innovation (DTBI). This included transfers from 3 agencies; 
Department of Treasury and Finance (DTF), Department 
of Tourism, Sport and Culture (DTSC) and Department of 
Primary Industry and Resources (DPIR). A total of 6 full time 
equivalent employees were transferred to DTBI.

Basis of transfer: Administrative Arrangements Order (No 2) 
27 June 2019.

Date of transfer: 1 July 2019

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this 
change were as follows:
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Details of transfer: The Office of Energy transferred to the Department of Trade, Business and Innovation (DTBI). This 
includes transfers from 2 agencies; DTF and Department of the Chief Minister (DCM) which affected the assets and 
liabilities. A total of 4 full time equivalent employees were transferred to DTBI.

Basis of transfer: Administrative Arrangements Order (No 2) 27 June 2019.

Date of transfer: 1 July 2019

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this change were as follows:

DTF DCM Total
ASSETS $000 $000 $000
Cash 33 24 57

33 24 57

LIABILITIES
Provisions 33 24 57

33 24 57

Net assets - - -

Transfers out

Details of transfer: Enterprise Corporate Services (ECS) staff moved as part of a broader Department of Corporate 
Information Services (DCIS) Accommodation plan that will see DCIS functions moving to create synergies across the 
department. A total of 29 full time equivalent employees were transferred from DTBI to DCIS as a result of the machinery 
of government changes. The CRM asset was also transferred out.

Basis of transfer: Administrative Arrangements Order (No 2) 27 June 2019.

Date of transfer: 1 July 2019

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of this change were as follows: 

$000
ASSETS
Cash 367

Property, plant and 
equipment

266

633

LIABILITIES
Provisions 367

367

Net assets 266
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2. Statement of significant accounting policies

a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 1995 
and related Treasurer’s Directions. The Financial Management 
Act 1995 requires the Department of Trade, Business and 
Innovation to prepare financial statements for the year ended 
30 June based on the form determined by the Treasurer. The 
form of agency financial statements should include:

(i)  a certification of the financial statements

(ii)  a comprehensive operating statement

(iii)  a balance sheet

(iv)  a statement of changes in equity

(v)  a cash flow statement and

(vi)  applicable explanatory notes to the financial statements. 

b) Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared using the 
accrual basis of accounting, which recognises the effect 
of financial transactions and events when they occur, 
rather than when cash is paid out or received. As part of 
the preparation of the financial statements, all intraagency 
transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

Except where stated, the financial statements have also 
been prepared in accordance with the historical cost 
convention.

The form of the agency financial statements is also 
consistent with the requirements of Australian accounting 
standards. The effects of all relevant new and revised 
standards and interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are effective for 
the current annual reporting period have been evaluated. 

Standards and interpretations effective from 
2019-20

AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with a customer / 
AASB 1058 Income for not-for-profit entities

AASB 15 Revenue from contracts with customers  
(AASB 15) supersedes AASB 111 Construction contracts, 
AASB 118 Revenue and related interpretations and applies, 
with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising from contracts 

with customers. Under AASB 15 revenue from agreements 
that are enforceable, have sufficiently specific performance 
obligations and transfer goods or services to the customer 
or third party beneficiary will be recognised when or as 
performance obligations are satisfied. AASB 15 requires 
entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration 
all of the relevant facts and circumstances when assessing 
contracts with their customers.

AASB 1058 Income for not-for-profit entities (AASB 1058) 
clarifies and simplifies income-recognition requirements 
that apply to not-for-profit entities and replaces most of the 
not-for-profit provisions under AASB 1004 Contributions. 
AASB 1058 applies to transactions where the consideration 
to acquire an asset is significantly less than fair value 
principally to enable the entity to further its objectives, and 
where volunteer services are received. 

In contrast with previous standards such as AASB 1004, 
AASB 1058 allows deferral of income from capital grants 
where there is an enforceable contract with sufficiently 
specific performance obligations and the agreement does 
not require the agency to transfer the asset to other parties. 
For such capital grants, the funding received is initially 
deferred in an unearned revenue liability and subsequently 
recognised as revenue as or when the agency satisfies 
obligations under the agreement. Where funding is received 
from another Territory Government-controlled entity other 
than Commonwealth funds on-passed by the Central 
Holding Authority, revenue is recognised upfront on receipt.

In accordance with transition provisions, the agency has 
applied the modified retrospective approach on transition 
to AASB 15 and AASB 1058, with the cumulative effect 
of applying both accounting standards recognised in 
accumulated funds or appropriate equity code at 1 July 
2019. Accordingly, the comparative information presented 
for 2018-19 has not been restated and is presented as 
previously reported. The agency applied the accounting 
standards retrospectively to all contracts, including 
completed contracts, at 1 July 2019. Completed contracts 
include contracts where the agency had recognised all 
revenue in prior periods under AASB 1004 Contributions.

There was no transitional impact of adoption of AASB 15 
and AASB 1058 at 1 July 2019 or 30 June 2020. 
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AASB 16 Leases

AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16) supersedes AASB 117 Leases 
and relevant interpretations and introduces significant 
changes to lessee accounting by removing the distinction 
between operating and finance leases. For lessees with 
operating leases, a right-of-use asset has now been 
recognised on the balance sheet together with a lease 
liability at the lease commencement, for all leases except 
for leases with a term of less than 12 months or where the 
underlying assets are of low value. In contrast to lessee 
accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have 
remained largely unchanged and has not had a significant 
impact for leases where the agency is the lessor. 

In accordance with transition provisions, the agency has 
applied the modified retrospective approach on transition 
to AASB 16, with the cumulative effect of initial application 
of the standard as an adjustment to the balance sheet as 
at 1 July 2019. Accordingly, the comparative information 
presented for 2018-19 has not been restated and is 
presented as previously reported. 

On adoption of AASB 16, the agency did not recognise 
a lease liability or corresponding right to use asset as 
the agency did not have any leases. Based on Treasurers 
Direction Leases, the lease arrangements of the agency 
were exempt from recognition as they were primarily inter-
government. 

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to Australian accounting 
standards – Australian implementation guidance for 
not-for-profit entities (AASB 9 Financial instruments)

AASB 2016-8 is effective for the first time in 2019-20 
and will require non-contractual receivables arising from 
statutory requirements to apply the initial recognition and 
measurement requirements of AASB 9. The requirements of 
AASB 2016-8 are largely consistent with existing recognition 
and measurement practices of the agency and is therefore 
not expected to have a material impact.

Several other amending standards and AASB interpretations 
have been issued that apply to the current reporting periods, 
but are considered to have no impact on public sector 
reporting.

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet 
effective

No Australian accounting standards have been early 
adopted for 2019-20. 

Several other amending standards and AASB interpretations 
have been issued that apply to future reporting periods but are 
considered to have limited impact on public sector reporting.

c) Reporting entity
The financial statements cover the Department as an 
individual reporting entity.  
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation 
(“the Department”) is a Northern Territory department 
established under the Interpretation Act 1978 and 
Administrative Arrangements Order. 

The principal place of business of the department is:  
19 Smith Street, Darwin, Northern Territory, 0800 

d) Agency and Territory items
The financial statements of Department of Trade, Business 
and Innovation include income, expenses, assets, liabilities 
and equity over which the Department of Trade, Business 
and Innovation has control (agency items). 

Central Holding Authority

The Central Holding Authority is the ‘parent body’ that 
represents the government’s ownership interest in 
government-controlled entities. 

The Central Holding Authority also records all Territory 
items, such as income, expenses, assets and liabilities 
controlled by the government and managed by agencies 
on behalf of the government. The main Territory item 
is Territory income, which includes taxation and royalty 
revenue, Commonwealth general purpose funding (such as 
GST revenue), fines, and statutory fees and charges. 

The Central Holding Authority also holds certain Territory 
assets not assigned to agencies as well as certain Territory 
liabilities that are not practical or effective to assign to 
individual agencies such as unfunded superannuation and 
long service leave.

e) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information for the 2018-19 
financial year has been reclassified to provide consistency 
with current year disclosures.
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f) Presentation and rounding of amounts
Amounts in the financial statements and notes to the financial 
statements are presented in Australian dollars and have 
been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, with amounts 
of $500 or less being rounded down to zero. Figures in 
the financial statements and notes may not equate due to 
rounding. 

g) Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes to accounting policies adopted 
in 2019-20 as a result of management decisions. Changes in 
policies relating to COVID-19 are disclosed in k below.

h) Accounting judgments and estimates
The preparation of the financial report requires the making 
of judgments and estimates that affect the recognised 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and 
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the 
basis for making judgments about the carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised 
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods.

Judgments and estimates that have significant effects on 
the financial statements are disclosed in the relevant notes 
to the financial statements. 

i) Goods and services tax
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where 
the amount of GST incurred on a purchase of goods and 
services is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office 
(ATO). In these circumstances the GST is recognised as 
part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the 
expense.

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of 
GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the ATO is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a 
gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities, which are recoverable 
from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash 
flows. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of 
the amount of GST recoverable or payable unless otherwise 
specified.

j) Contributions by and distributions to 
government

The agency may receive contributions from government 
where the government is acting as owner of the agency. 
Conversely, the agency may make distributions to 
government. In accordance with the Financial Management 
Act 1995 and Treasurer’s Directions, certain types of 
contributions and distributions, including those relating 
to administrative restructures, have been designated as 
contributions by, and distributions to, government. These 
designated contributions and distributions are treated by 
the agency as adjustments to equity.

The statement of changes in equity provides additional 
information in relation to contributions by, and distributions 
to, government.

k) Impact of COVID-19
The Territory Government modified its debt recovery 
process and postponed the payment date for a number of 
regulatory fees and charges to ease financial hardship faced 
by individuals and businesses as a result of COVID-19. 

In addition, management made a number of decisions as 
a result of COVID-19 which has impacted the 2019-20 
financial statements. These decisions have been noted 
in the annual report and can be found in the body of the 
annual report.
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3. Comprehensive operating statement by output group
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Income 

Income encompasses both revenue and gains.

Income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration 
received, exclusive of the amount of GST. Exchanges of 
goods or services of the same nature and value without any 
cash consideration being exchanged are not recognised as 
income.

Grants and other contributions

Grants revenue is recognised at fair value exclusive of the 
amount of GST. Where a grant agreement is enforceable 
and has sufficiently specific performance obligations for 
the agency to transfer goods or services to the grantor or 
a third party beneficiary, the transaction is accounted for 
under AASB 15. In this case, revenue is initially deferred as 
a contract liability when received in advance and recognised 
as or when the performance obligations are satisfied. Where 
grant agreements do not meet criteria above, it is accounted 
for under AASB 1058 and income is recognised on receipt 
of funding except for capital grants revenue received for 
the purchase or construction of non-financial assets to be 
controlled by the agency. Capital grants with enforceable 
contracts and sufficiently specific obligations are recognised 
as an unearned revenue liability when received and 
subsequently recognised progressively as revenue as 
or when the agency satisfies its obligations under the 
agreement.

Appropriation

Output appropriation is the operating payment to each 
agency for the outputs they provide and is calculated as the 
net cost of agency outputs after taking into account funding 
from agency income. It does not include any allowance for 
major non-cash costs such as depreciation. 

Commonwealth appropriation follows from the 
intergovernmental agreement on federal financial 
relations, resulting in specific purpose payments (SPPs) 
and national partnership (NP) payments being made by the 
Commonwealth Treasury to state treasuries, in a manner 
similar to arrangements for GST payments. These payments 
are received by the Department of Treasury and Finance on 
behalf of the Central Holding Authority and then passed on 
to the relevant agencies as Commonwealth appropriation.

Where appropriation received has an enforceable contract 
with sufficiently specific performance obligations as defined 
in AASB 15, revenue is recognised as and when goods and 
or services are transferred to the customer or third party 
beneficiary. Otherwise revenue is recognised when the 
agency gains control of the funds.

Sales of goods and rendering of services

Revenue from sales of goods and revenue from rendering 
of services is recognised when the agency satisfies a 
performance obligation by transferring the promised goods. 
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4. Revenue

a) Grants and subsidies revenue

2020 2019
Revenue from 
contracts with 

customers

$000

Other

$000

Total

$000 $000
Current grants 280 96 376 555

Capital grants - 99 99 -

Total grants and subsidies revenue 280 195 475 555
 
Grants revenue is recognised at fair value exclusive of the 
amount of GST. Until 30 June 2019, grant revenue and other 
non-reciprocal contributions were recognised as revenue 
when the agency obtains control over the asset comprising the 
contribution, which was normally obtained on receipt.

From 1 July 2019, where a grant agreement is enforceable and 
has sufficiently specific performance obligations for the agency 
to transfer goods or services to the grantor or a third party 
beneficiary, the transaction is accounted for under AASB 15. 
In this case, revenue is initially deferred as a contract liability 
when received in advance and recognised as or when the 
performance obligations are satisfied. 

Where grant agreements do not meet criteria above, it is 
accounted for under AASB 1058 and income is recognised on 
receipt of funding except for capital grants revenue received 
for the purchase or construction of non-financial assets to 
be controlled by the agency. Capital grants with enforceable 
contracts and sufficiently specific obligations are recognised as 
an unearned revenue liability when received and subsequently 
recognised progressively as revenue as or when the agency 

satisfies its obligations under the agreement. Where a non-
financial asset is purchased, revenue is recognised at the 
point in time the asset is acquired and control transfers to the 
agency.

Grant revenue, passed on from a Territory Government-
controlled entity with the exception of the Central Holding 
Authority, is recognised upfront on receipt, irrespective 
of which revenue accounting standard it may fall under in 
accordance with the Treasurer’s Direction on income.

Revenue from contracts with customers for the 2019-20 
financial year have been disaggregated below into categories 
to enable users of these financial statements to understand 
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of income and cash 
flows. These categories include a description of the type of 
product or service line, type of customer and timing of transfer 
of goods and services.

Grant agreements that satisfy recognition requirements under 
AASB 15 are disaggregated below.

2020

$000
Type of good and service

Service delivery 280

Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service 280

Type of customer:

Australian Government entities 280

Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer 280

Timing of transfer of goods and services:

Overtime -

Point in time 280

Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer 280
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b) Appropriation

2020 2019
Revenue from 
contracts with 

customers

$000

Other

$000

Total

$000 $000
Output - 212,169 212,169 148,553

Commonwealth 2,800 14,743 17,543 17,849

Total appropriation 2,800 226,912 229,712 166,402

Output appropriation is the operating payment to each 
agency for the outputs they provide as specified in the 
Appropriation Act. It does not include any allowance for 
major non-cash costs such as depreciation. The treatment 
of output appropriations remains the same after adopting 
AASB 15 and AASB 1058, because they do not have 
sufficiently specific performance obligations.

Commonwealth appropriation follows from the 
intergovernmental agreement on federal financial 
relations, resulting in specific purpose payments (SPPs) 
and national partnership (NP) payments being made by the 
Commonwealth Treasury to state treasuries, in a manner 
similar to arrangements for GST payments. These payments 
are received by the Department of Treasury and Finance on 
behalf of the Central Holding Authority and then passed on 
to the relevant agencies as Commonwealth appropriation. 
Until 30 June 2019, Commonwealth appropriation was 
recognised in the period when the agency gains control of 
the funds, which was on receipt of funding. 

From 1 July 2019, where appropriation received has an 
enforceable contract with sufficiently specific performance 
obligations as defined in AASB 15, revenue is recognised 
as and when goods and or services are transferred to the 
customer or third party beneficiary. Otherwise revenue is 
recognised when the agency gains control of the funds. The 
agency’s contracts is for the delivery of apprenticeships 
and training targets for the Northern Territory. Funding is 
generally received upon completion of the milestones per 
the contract. 

Revenue from contracts with customers for the 2019-
20 financial year have been disaggregated below into 
categories to enable users of these financial statements 
to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty 
of income and cash flows. These categories include a 
description of the type of product or service line, type of 
customer and timing of transfer of goods and services.

2020

$000
Type of good and service

Service delivery 2,800

Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service 2,800

Type of customer:

Australian Government entities 2,800

Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer 2,800

Timing of transfer of goods and services:

Overtime -

Point in time 2,800

Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer 2,800
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c) Sales of goods and services

2020 2019
Revenue from 
contracts with 

customers

$000

Other

$000

Total

$000 $000
Sales of goods and services 1,018 79 1,096 511

Total sales of goods and services 1,018 79 1,096 511
 

Revenue from regulatory fees is recognised when the agency 
satisfies its performance obligations. These include fees 
for the issue of licences. The agency’s sole performance 
obligations for the issue of a non-intellectual property licence 
is the issue of the licence, as such revenue is recognised 
upfront on issue of the licence. For intellectual property 
licences, revenue is recognised at a point in time or overtime 
as or when the performance obligation is satisfied. The 
agency recognises licences with a term less than 12 months 
or a low value of $10,000 or less, upfront on receipt of cash.  

Sale of goods 

Until 30 June 2019, revenue from sales of goods is 
recognised as revenue when the agency transfer significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods to the buyer. 
From 1 July 2019, revenue from sales of goods is recognised 
when the agency satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring the promised goods. 

Revenue from these sales are based on the price specified 
in the contract, and revenue is only recognised to the extent 
that it is highly probable a significant reversal will not occur. 

There is no element of financing present as sales are made 
with a short credit term. 

Rendering of services

Until 30 June 2019, revenue from rendering services was 
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of 
the contract. From 1 July 2019, revenue from rendering 
of services is recognised when the agency satisfies the 
performance obligation by transferring the promised 
services. The services generally provided by the agency 
are business events and sponsorships associated to the 
business events. The agency satisfies the performance 
obligation for these services when the business event is 
held and the service is provided.

Revenue from contracts with customers for the 2019-
20 financial year have been disaggregated below into 
categories to enable users of these financial statements 
to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty 
of income and cash flows. These categories include a 
description of the type of product or service line, type of 
customer and timing of transfer of goods and services.

2020

$000
Type of good and service

Service delivery 1,018

Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service 1,018

Type of customer:

Australian Government entities -

Non-government entities 1,018

Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer 1,018

Timing of transfer of goods and services:

Overtime -

Point in time 1,018

Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer 1,018
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d) Other income

2020 2019
Revenue from 
contracts with 

customers

$000

Other

$000

Total

$000 $000
Other income 1,067 422 1,489 1,060

Total other income 1,067 422 1,489 1,060

Other income mainly consists of the recovery of funds by 
the agency. Where the agency has revenue from contracts 
with customers, revenue is recognised when the agency 
satisfies a performance obligation which is satisfied at a 
point in time the agency is entitled to the recovery of funds 
based on the contract conditions. 

Revenue from contracts with customers for the 2019-
20 financial year have been disaggregated below into 
categories to enable users of these financial statements 
to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty 
of income and cash flows. These categories include a 
description of the type of product or service line, type of 
customer and timing of transfer of goods and services.

2020

$000
Type of good and service

Service delivery 1,067

Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service 1,067

Type of customer:

State and territory governments -

Non-government entities 1,067

Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer 1,067

Timing of transfer of goods and services:

Overtime -

Point in time 1,067

Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer 1,067
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5. Goods and services received free of charge
2020 2019

$000 $000
Corporate and information services 8,829 4,765

Repairs and maintenance 326 -

Total goods and services received free of charge 9,155 4,765

Resources received free of charge are recognised as revenue 
when, and only when, a fair value can be reliably determined 
and the services would have been purchased if they had 
not been donated. Use of those resources is recognised as 
an expense. Resources received free of charge are recorded 
as either revenue or gains depending on their nature. 
From 1 July 2019, repairs and maintenance expenses and 
associated employee costs were centralised under the 
Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics as part 

of a machinery of government change and now forms part 
of goods and services free of charge of the agency. 

In addition, from 1 July 2019, corporate services staff 
and functions were centralised under Department of 
Corporate and Information Services as part of a machinery 
of government change and now forms part of goods and 
services free of charge of the agency.
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(5) Includes recruitment-related advertising costs.

Purchases of goods and services generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations, including 
supplies and service costs recognised in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Repairs and maintenance expense

From 1 July 2019, repairs and maintenance expenses were centralised under the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and 
Logistics (DIPL) as part of machinery of government changes. The agency now recognises a notional repairs and maintenance 

6. Purchases of goods and services
The net surplus/(deficit) has been arrived at after charging the following expenses:

2020 2019

$000 $000
Goods and services expenses
Consultants (1) 4,122 6,136
Advertising (2) - -
Marketing and promotion (3) 919 1,489
Document production 32 55
Legal expenses (4) 514 713
Recruitment (5) 121 41
Training and study 251 236
Official duty fares 315 428
Travelling allowance 95 116
Information technology charges and communications 1,746 1,897
Motor vehicle expenses 231 312
Accommodation 190 242
Agent Service Arrangements 180 809
Audit Fees 47 73
Client Travel 125 109
Communications 295 311
Fees & Regulatory Charges 226 7
Membership And Subscriptions 234 224
Power 186 180
Property Management 140 125
Public Exhibitions and Events 575 689
Regulatory and Advisory Boards and Committees 589 432
Relocation Expenses 21 34
Workers Compensation Ins 135 140
Other 1,065 1,412

12,354 16,211

(1) Includes marketing, promotion and IT consultants. 
(2) Does not include recruitment, advertising or marketing and promotion advertising. 
(3) Includes advertising for marketing and promotion but excludes marketing and promotion consultants’ expenses, which are 
incorporated in the consultants’ category. 
(4) Includes legal fees, claim and settlement costs. 
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expense under services received free of charge in Note 5. 

7. Write-offs, postponements, waiver, gifts and ex gratia payments

Agency Territory items

2020 
$000

No. of 
Trans.

2019
$000

No. of 
Trans.

2020 
$000

No. of 
Trans.

2019 
$000

No. of 
Trans.

Write-offs, postponements and waivers 
under the Financial Management Act 1995
Represented by:
Amounts written off, postponed and waived 
by delegates
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory 
or an agency written off 6 2 1 1 - - - -

Losses or deficiencies of money written off - - - - - - - -
Public property written off - - - - - - - -
Waiver or postponement of right to receive or 
recover money or property - - - - - - - -

Total written off, postponed and waived by 
delegates 6 2 1 1 - - - -

Amounts written off, postponed and waived 
by the Treasurer 
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory 
or an agency written off - - 90 3 - - - -

Losses or deficiencies of money written off - - - - - - - -
Public property written off - - - - - - - -
Waiver or postponement of right to receive or 
recover money or property - - - - - - - -

Total written off, postponed and waived by 
the Treasurer

- - 90 3 - - - -

Write-offs, postponements and waivers 
authorised under other legislation

6 2 91 4 - - - -

Gifts under the Financial Management  
Act 1995
Gifts by delegate
Office furniture - - - - - - - -
Computer and other electronic equipment - - - - - - - -
Other 7 22 - - - - - -
Total gifts by delegate 7 22 - - - - - -
Gifts by Treasurer - - - - - - - -

Gifts authorised under other legislation - - - - - - - -

Ex gratia payments under the Financial 
Management Act 1995

- - - - - - - -
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8. Cash and deposits

For the purposes of the balance sheet and the cash flow statement, cash includes cash on hand and, cash at bank.

a) Reconciliation of cash
The total of agency ‘Cash and deposits’ of $62.60 million recorded in the balance sheet is consistent with that recorded as 
‘Cash’ in the cash flow statement.

Reconciliation of net surplus/deficit to net cash from operating activities

b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
DTBI did not have any liabilities arising from financing activities during 2019-20 or 2018-19.

2020 2019

$000 $000
Cash on hand 2 4

Cash at bank 62,593 24,801

Total cash and deposits 62,595 24,805

9. Cash flow reconciliation

2020 2019
$000 $000

Net surplus/(deficit) (2,472) (7,838)

Non-cash items:

Depreciation and amortisation 1,303 1,595

Asset write-offs/write-downs 9 43

Doubtful debts expense - (42)

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 381 (1,016)

Decrease/(increase) in inventories - -

Decrease/(increase) in prepayments 100 347

(Decrease)/increase in other assets - -

(Decrease)/increase in payables 37,512 (742)

(Decrease)/increase in provision for employee benefits 627 (113)

(Decrease)/increase in other liabilities 330 198

Net cash from operating activities 37,790 (7,568)
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10. Receivables

2020 2019

$000 $000
Current

Accounts receivable 336 122

Less: loss allowance (216) (41)

120 81

GST receivables 1,769 2,321

Other receivables  224 92

Total receivables 2,113 2,494

Receivables are initially recognised when the agency 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument and are measured at fair value less any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Receivables include contract 
receivables, accounts receivable and other receivables.

Receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any impairments.

Accounts receivable, contract receivables and other 
receivables are generally settled within 30 days.

The loss allowance reflects lifetime expected credit losses 
and represents the amount of receivables the agency 
estimates are likely to be uncollectible and are considered 
doubtful.

Credit risk exposure of receivables

Receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure 
exposure to bad debts is not significant. The entity applies 
the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses. 
This approach recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime 
expected credit losses for all accounts receivables, contracts 
receivables and accrued contract revenue. To measure 
expected credit losses, receivables have been grouped 
based on shared risk characteristics and days past due. 

The expected loss rates are based on historical observed 
loss rates, adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking 
information, including macroeconomic factors on consumer 
price index.

In accordance with the provisions of the FMA, receivables 
are written-off when there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation 
of recovery includes a failure to make contractual payments 
for a period greater than 90 days past due however, this is 
subject to other factors like the likelihood of recovery based 
on the debtors scenerio. 

Due to COVID-19, the agency’s credit risk exposure has 
increased and is reflected in the expected credit losses 
reported. To ease financial hardship faced by individuals 
and businesses as a result of the COVID-19, the Territory 
Government modified its debt recovery process and 
postponed the payment date for a number of regulatory 
fees and charges however, it is noted this did not have a 
significant impact on the expected credit loss. This has been 
reflected in the expected credit loss recorded within the 
reporting period. 

The loss allowance for receivables and reconciliation as at 
the reporting date is disclosed below.
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Loss allowance for receivables

2020 2019

Gross 
receivables Loss rate

Expected 
credit 
losses

Net 
receivables

Gross 
receivables Loss rate

Expected 
credit 
losses

Net 
receivables

$000 % $000 $000 $000 % $000 $000
INTERNAL RECEIVABLES
Not overdue 282 - - 282 116 - - 116

Overdue for 
less than 30 
days

- - - - - - - -

Overdue for 
30 to 60 days - - - - - - - -

Overdue for 
more than 60 
days

- - - - - - - -

Total internal 
receivables 282 - 282 116 - 116

EXTERNAL RECEIVABLES
Not overdue 57 - - 57 54 - - 54

Overdue for 
less than 30 
days

7 30 (2) 5 1 - - 1

Overdue for 
30 to 60 days - - - - - - - -

Overdue for 
more than 60 
days

214 100 (214) - 43 95 (41) 2

Total external 
receivables 278 (216) 62 98 (41) 57

Total amounts disclosed exclude statutory amounts and include contract receivables and accrued contract revenue.
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Reconciliation of loss allowance for receivables

2020 2019

$000 $000
INTERNAL RECEIVABLES
Opening balance - -

Written off during the year - -

Recovered during the year - -

Increase/decrease in allowance recognised in profit or loss - -

Total internal receivables - -

EXTERNAL RECEIVABLES
Opening balance (41) (39)

Written off during the year 6 13

Recovered during the year (2) -

Increase/decrease in allowance recognised in profit or loss (179) (15)

Total external receivables (216) (41)

Prepayments

Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods and services or that part of expenditure made in one 
accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period. 

 

11. Property, plant and equipment
 
Total property, plant and equipment

2020 2019

$000 $000
BUILDINGS 
At fair value 18,244 18,244

Less: accumulated depreciation (4,273) (3,892)

13,971 14,352

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
At fair value 8,362 8,362

Less: accumulated depreciation (6,531) (5,609)

1,831 2,753

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 15,802 17,105
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2020 Property, plant and equipment reconciliations

From 1 July 2019, property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets under AASB 16 Leases that is effective from that 
date. The agency does not have right-of-use assets under AASB 16 Leases as at 30 June 2020. A reconciliation of the carrying 
amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of 2019-20 is set out below:

Land Buildings

Construction 
(work in 

progress)
Plant and 

equipment

Leased 
property, 
plant and 

equipment Total
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Carrying Amount as at  
1 July 2019

- 14,352 - 2,753 - 17,105

Reclassification - - - - - -
Recognition of right-of-use 
assets on initial adoption of 
AASB 16

- - - - - -

Adjusted carrying amount 
as at 1 July 2019

- 14,352 - 2,753 - 17,105

Additions - - - - - -
Disposals - - - - - -
Depreciation expense – 
asset owned -

(381) - (922)
-

(1,303)

Additions/disposals from 
asset transfers - - - - - -

Impairment losses - - - - - -
Carrying Amount as at  
30 June 2020 - 13,971 - 1,831 - 15,802

2019 Property, plant and equipment reconciliations

A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of 2018-19 is set out below:

Land Buildings

Construction 
(work in 

progress)
Plant and 

equipment

Leased 
property, 
plant and 

equipment Total
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Carrying Amount as at  
1 July 2019

- 14,733 11 3,126 - 17,870

Additions - - - 890 - 890

Disposals - - - (202) - (202)
Depreciation expense - (381) - (1,087) - (1,468)

Additions/disposals from 
asset transfers

- - (11) 41 - 30

Impairment losses - - - (15) - (15)
Carrying Amount as at  
30 June 2019 - 14,352 - 2,753 - 17,105
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Acquisitions

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised 
at cost and subsequently revalued at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment. Cost is the 
amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value 
of the other consideration given to acquire the asset 
at the time of its acquisition or construction or, where 
applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when 
initially recognised in accordance with the requirements 
of other accounting standards.

All items of property, plant and equipment with a cost 
or other value, equal to or greater than $10,000 are 
recognised in the year of acquisition and depreciated as 
outlined below. Items of property, plant and equipment 
below the $10,000 threshold are expensed in the year of 
acquisition. 

The construction cost of property, plant and equipment 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, and an 
appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.

Complex assets

Major items of plant and equipment comprising a number 
of components that have different useful lives, are 
accounted for as separate assets. The components may 
be replaced during the useful life of the complex asset.

Subsequent additional costs

Costs incurred on property, plant and equipment 
subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when 
it is probable that future economic benefits in excess 
of the originally assessed performance of the asset will 
flow to the agency in future years. Where these costs 
represent separate components of a complex asset, they 
are accounted for as separate assets and separately 
depreciated over their expected useful lives.

Construction (work in progress)

As part of the financial management framework, the 
Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics 
is responsible for managing general government 
capital works projects on a whole of government basis. 
Therefore appropriation for all agency capital works is 
provided directly to the Department of Infrastructure, 
Planning and Logistics and the cost of construction work 
in progress is recognised as an asset of that department. 
Once completed, capital works assets are transferred to 
the agency. 

Revaluations and impairment

Revaluation of assets

Subsequent to initial recognition, assets belonging to the 
following classes of non-current assets are revalued with 
sufficient regularity to ensure the carrying amount of these 
assets does not differ materially from their fair value at 
reporting date: 

 – land

 – buildings

 – infrastructure assets

 – heritage and cultural assets

 – intangibles.

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less 
depreciation, which is deemed to equate to fair value.

The latest revaluations as at 30 June 2017 were 
independently conducted. The valuer was Territory Property 
Consultants (TPC). Refer to Note 18: Fair value Measurement 
for additional disclosures.

Impairment of assets

An asset is said to be impaired when the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Non-current physical and intangible agency assets are 
assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis or 
whenever there is indication of impairment. If an indicator 
of impairment exists, the agency determines the asset’s 
recoverable amount. The asset’s recoverable amount is 
determined as the higher of the asset’s current replacement 
cost and fair value less costs to sell. Any amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount is 
recorded as an impairment loss.

Impairment losses are recognised in the comprehensive 
operating statement. They are disclosed as an expense unless 
the asset is carried at a revalued amount. Where the asset is 
measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is offset 
against the asset revaluation surplus for that class of asset to 
the extent an available balance exists in the asset revaluation 
surplus.

In certain situations, an impairment loss may subsequently 
be reversed. Where an impairment loss is subsequently 
reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised in the comprehensive operating 
statement as income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued 
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amount, in which case the impairment reversal results in an 
increase in the asset revaluation surplus. 

Agency property, plant and equipment assets were 
assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2020. No impairment 
adjustments were required as a result of this review.

Depreciation and amortisation expense

Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings 
but excluding land, have limited useful lives and are 

depreciated or amortised using the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful lives.

Amortisation applies in relation to intangible non-current 
assets with limited useful lives and is calculated and 
accounted for in a similar manner to depreciation.

The estimated useful lives for each class of asset are 
in accordance with the Treasurer’s Directions and are 
determined as follows:

2020 2019
Buildings 40-50 years 40-50 years

Plant and equipment 3-10 years 3-10 years

Heritage and cultural assets 100 years 100 years

Intangibles 5-10 years 5-10 years

Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date of acquisition or from the time an asset is completed and held ready for use.

12. Intangibles

2020 2019

$000 $000
CARRYING AMOUNT
Intangibles with a finite useful life

(a) Other intangibles

At valuation - 638

Less: accumulated amortisation -    (372)

Written down value – 30 June - 266

Total intangibles - 266
 
Intangible valuations

Intangibles valuation is stated at historical cost.  
Refer to Note 18: Fair value measurement for additional 
disclosures.

Impairment of intangibles

Agency intangible assets were assessed for impairment as at 
30 June 2020. No impairment adjustments were required as 
a result of this review.



ANNUAL REPORT 2019-2020 73 

OUR FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

2020 2019

$000 $000
RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS
Intangibles with a finite useful life

(b) Other intangibles

Carrying amount at 1 July 266 393

Additions - -

Disposals - -

Amortisation - (127)

Additions/(disposals) from asset transfers (266) -

Carrying amount as at 30 June - 266

13. Heritage and cultural assets
2020 2019

$000 $000
CARRYING AMOUNT
At valuation 10 10

Less: Accumulated depreciation (3) (3)

Written down value – 30 June  7  7

RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS
Carrying amount at 1 July 7 8

Additions - -

Disposals - -

Depreciation - (1)

Carrying amount as at 30 June  7  7

Heritage and cultural assets valuation

Heritage and cultural assets valuation is stated at historical 
cost. Refer to Note 18: Fair value measurement for 
additional disclosures.

Impairment of heritage and cultural assets

Agency heritage and cultural assets were assessed for 
impairment as at 30 June 2020. No impairment adjustments 
were required as a result of this review.
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14. Payables
2020 2019

$000 $000
Accounts payable 81 56

Accrued expenses 1,156 1,017

Current subsidies payable 1,744 -

Capital grant payables 35,604 -

Total payables  38,585 1,073

Liabilities for accounts payable and other amounts payable are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration 
to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the agency. Accounts payable are normally 
settled within 20 days from receipt of valid of invoices under $1 million or 30 days for invoices over $1 million.

15. Provisions
2020 2019

$000 $000
CURRENT 
Employee benefits

Recreation leave 3,819 3,283

Leave loading 418 429

Superannuation 298 238

Other current provision 327 285

Total provisions 4,862 4,235

Employee benefits 

Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated 
as a result of employees rendering services up to the 
reporting date. These benefits include wages and salaries 
and recreation leave. Liabilities arising in respect of wages 
and salaries, recreation leave and other employee benefit 
liabilities that fall due within twelve months of reporting 
date are classified as current liabilities and are measured 
at amounts expected to be paid. Non-current employee 
benefit liabilities that fall due after twelve months of the 
reporting date are measured at present value, calculated 
using the government long-term bond rate.

No provision is made for sick leave, which is non-vesting, 
as the anticipated pattern of future sick leave to be taken is 
less than the entitlement accruing in each reporting period. 

Employee benefit expenses are recognised on a net basis in 
respect of the following categories:

 – wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, recreation 
leave and other leave entitlements 

 – other types of employee benefits.

As part of the financial management framework, the Central 
Holding Authority assumes the long service leave liabilities 
of government agencies, including Department of Trade, 
Business and Innovation and therefore no long service leave 
liability is recognised in agency financial statements.
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16. Other Liabilities
2020 2019

$000 $000
CURRENT 
Unearned contract revenue 275 446

NON-CURRENT 
Unearned contract revenue 500 -

Total other liabilities  775 446

Superannuation

Employees’ superannuation entitlements are provided 
through the:

 – Northern Territory Government and Public Authorities 
Superannuation Scheme (NTGPASS)

 – Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme (CSS)

 – or non-government employee nominated schemes  
for those employees commencing on or after  
10 August 1999. 

The agency makes superannuation contributions on behalf 
of its employees to the Central Holding Authority or non-
government employee-nominated schemes. Superannuation 
liabilities related to government superannuation schemes 
are held by the Central Holding Authority and therefore not 
recognised in agency financial statements. 

Unearned contract revenue

Unearned contract revenue relates primarily to consideration 
received in advance from customers in respect of workforce 
development programs and business forums. Unearned 
contract revenue balances as at 30 June 2020 is $775,000 
(balance at 1 July 2019 was $446,000). Of the amount 
included in the unearned contract revenue balance as at 
1 July 2019, $446,000 has been recognised as revenue in 
2019-20.

The agency anticipates to recognise as revenue, any 
liabilities for unsatisfied obligations as at the end of the 
reporting period in accordance with the time bands below:

2020

$000
Not later than one year 275

Later than one year and not 
later than five years 500

Later than five years -

Total 775
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17. Commitments

Commitments are those contracted as at 30 June where 
the amount of the future commitment can be reliably 
measured. Following the adoption of AASB 16 Leases, 
operating lease commitments as reported in 2018-19, 
satisfying eligibility criteria, have now been recognised 
as a lease liability on the balance sheet. It is noted that 
the Department of Trade, Business an Innovation did not 
have lease arrangements which satisfied the eligibility 
criteria as at 30 June 2020.

Similarly, following the adoption of AASB 15 Revenue 
from contracts with customers and AASB 1058 Income 
of not-for-profit entities, a significant portion of capital 
commitments and other non-cancellable commitments as 
reported in 2019 have now been recognised as unearned 
liabilities on the balance sheet.

Disclosures in relation to capital and other commitments 
are detailed below: 

2020 2019

Internal External Internal External
$000 $000 $000 $000

 (i) CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
Capital expenditure commitments primarily related to the 
construction of buildings and infrastructure. Capital expenditure 
commitments contracted for at balance date but not recognised 
as liabilities are payable as follows:

Within one year - - 77 1,734

Later than one year and not later than five years 1 - - - 9,500

Later than five years - - - -

- -  77  11,234

(ii) OTHER EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
Other non-cancellable expenditure commitments not 
recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:

Within one year 308 5,164 278 6,855

Later than one year and not later than five years 430 6,764 391 10,180

Later than five years - 1,840 - 3,876

 738 13,768 669  20,911

1. As a result of the machinery of government changes in Financial Year 2019-20, the commitment of $9.5 million for the Darwin 
Luxury Hotel project no longer exists as the project transferred to the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics.
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date.

Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into 
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by 
selling it to another market participant that would use the 
asset in its highest and best use. The highest and best use 
takes into account the use of the asset that is physically 
possible, legally permissible and financially feasible.

When measuring fair value, the valuation techniques used 
maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and minimise 
the use of unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are used 
to the extent that sufficient relevant and reliable observable 
inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities.

Observable inputs are publicly available data relevant to 
the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued. 
Observable inputs used by the agency include, but are not 
limited to, published sales data for land and general office 
buildings.

Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgments 
not available publicly but relevant to the characteristics of the 
assets/liabilities being valued. Such inputs include internal 
agency adjustments to observable data to take account of 
particular and potentially unique characteristics/functionality 
of assets/liabilities and assessments of physical condition and 
remaining useful life. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or 
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within 
the following fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used:

Level 1 – inputs are quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – inputs are unobservable.
 – The fair value of financial instruments is determined on the 
following basis:

 – the fair value of cash, deposits, advances, receivables and 
payables approximates their carrying amount, which is also 
their amortised cost

 – the fair value of derivative financial instruments are derived 
using current market yields and exchange rates appropriate 
to the instrument 

the fair value of other monetary financial assets and liabilities 
is based on discounting to present value the expected future 
cash flows by applying current market interest rates for assets 
and liabilities with similar risk profiles.

a) Fair value hierarchy
The table below presents non-financial assets recognised 
at fair value in the balance sheet categorised by levels of 
inputs used to compute fair value.

18. Fair value measurement

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total fair value

2019-20 2018-19 2019-20 2018-19 2019-20 2018-19 2019-20 2018-19

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
ASSETS
Buildings (Note 11) - - - - 13,971 14,352 13,971 14,352

Plant and equipment 
(Note 11) - - - - 1,831 2,753 1,831 2,753

Intangibles (Note 12) - - - - - 266 - 266

Heritage and cultural  
(Note 13) - - - - 7 7 7 7

Total assets - - - - 15,809 17,378 15,809 17,378

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Levels 2 or 3 during 2019-20.
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b) Valuation techniques and inputs
Valuation techniques used to measure fair value in 2019-20 are:

Level 2 techniques Level 3 techniques
ASSET CLASSES   
Buildings - Cost Approach

Plant and equipment - Cost Approach

Intangibles - Cost Approach

Heritage and cultural - Cost Approach

There were no changes in valuation techniques from 2018-19 to 2019-20. 

Territory Property Consultants (TPC) provided valuations 
for the buildings located at the Desert People Centre in 
Central Australia. Physical inspections were conducted by 
TPC. Level 3 fair values of these specialised buildings were 
determined by computing their current replacement costs 
because an active market does not exist for such facilities. 
The current replacement costs on a per structure basis, 
have been ascertained from in-office records, analysis of 
construction contracts for new constructions over the past 
3 years, on either a whole or part basis, information received 
from major construction contractors/architects/quantity 

surveyors and engineers cross referenced to Rawlinson’s, 
Cordell’s and the Building Economists guidelines to derive 
construction cost rates on a per square metre/net area 
modern equivalent basis. Significant judgement was also 
used in assessing the remaining service potential of the 
facilities, given local environmental conditions, projected 
usage, and records of the current condition of the facilities.

Plant and equipment, intangibles and heritage and cultural 
assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation which is 
deemed to equate to fair value.
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c) Additional information for level 3 fair value measurements
(i) Reconciliation of recurring level 3 fair value measurements of non-financial assets 

Buildings
Plant and 

equipment
Intangible 

assets
Heritage and 

cultural

 $000 $000 $000 $000
2019-20

Fair value as at 1 July 2019 14,352 2,753 266 7

Recognition of right-of-use asset on initial application of 
AASB 16 - - - -

Adjusted fair value as at 1 July 2019 14,352 2,753 266 7

Additions - - - -

Disposals - - (266) -

Transfers from Level 2 - - - -

Transfers to Level 2 - - - -

Depreciation (381) (922) - -

Gains/losses recognised in net surplus/deficit - - - -

Gains/losses recognised in other comprehensive income - - - -

Fair value as at 30 June 2020 13,971 1,831 - 7

2018-19
Fair value as at 1 July 2018 14,733 3,126 393 8

Additions - 931 - -

Disposals - (202) - -

Transfers from Level 2 - - - -

Transfers to Level 2 - - - -

Depreciation (381) (1,087) (127) (1)

Gains/losses recognised in net surplus/deficit - (15) - -

Gains/losses recognised in other comprehensive income - - - -

Fair value as at 30 June 2019 14,352 2,753 266 7
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(ii) Reconciliation of recurring level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets

2020 2019

$000 $000
Balance as at 1 July 17,378 18,260

Gains/losses recognised in net surplus/deficit - (15)

Purchases - 931

Sales - (202)

Depreciation (1,303) (1,596)

Disposals from asset transfers (266) -

Transfers to/from other levels - -

Balance as at 30 June  15,809  17,378

Unrealised gains/losses recognised in net surplus/deficit for 
instruments held at the end of the reporting period - -

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a 
financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the balance 
sheet when the agency becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The agency’s 
financial instruments include cash and deposits; receivables; 
payables. 

Due to the nature of operating activities, certain financial 
assets and financial liabilities arise under statutory 
obligations rather than a contract. Such financial assets and 
liabilities do not meet the definition of financial instruments 

as per AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. These 
include statutory receivables arising from taxes including 
GST and penalties. 

The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation has 
limited exposure to financial risks.

Exposure to interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit 
risk, price risk and liquidity risk arise in the normal course 
of activities. The Territory Government’s investments, 
loans and placements, and borrowings are predominantly 
managed through the Northern Territory Treasury 
Corporation adopting strategies to minimise the risk.

19. Financial instruments
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a) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of the agency’s financial assets and 
liabilities by category are disclosed in the table below.

Fair value through profit or loss

 Mandatorily at 
fair value

Designated at 
fair value 

Amortised 
cost

Fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
income Other Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
2019-20
Cash and 
deposits - - - - 62,595 62,595

Receivables1 - - 334 - - 334

Total financial 
assets - - 120 - 62,929 62,929

Payables1 - 59 - - 59

Total financial 
liabilities - - 59 - - 59

2018-19
Cash and 
deposits - - - - 24,805 24,805

Receivables1 - - 173 - - 173

Total financial 
assets - - 173 - 24,805 24,978

Payables1 - - 1,073 - - 1,073

Total financial 
liabilities - - 1,073 - - 1,073

1. Total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts.
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Categories of financial instruments

The agency’s financial instruments are classified in 
accordance with AASB 9.

Financial assets are classified under the following 
categories:

 – amortised cost

 – FVOCI

 – FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified under the following 
categories:

 – amortised cost

 – FVTPL.

These classification are based on the agency’s business 
model for managing the financial assets and the contractual 
terms of the cash flows. Where assets are measured at fair 
value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or 
loss, or other comprehensive income. 

Financial instruments are reclassified when and only when 
the agency’s business model for managing those assets 
changes.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered 
in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows 
are solely payment of principal and interest.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are classified at amortised cost when they 
are held by the agency to collect the contractual cash flows 
and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest. 

These assets are initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less impairment. The agency’s 
financial assets categorised at amortised cost include 
receivables.

Financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income

Financial assets are classified at fair value through other 
comprehensive income when they are held by the agency 
to both collect contractual cash flows and sell the financial 
assets, and the contractual cash flows are solely payments 
of principal and interest. 

These assets are initially and subsequently recognised 
at fair value. Changes in the fair value are recognised in 

other comprehensive income, except for the recognition 
of impairment gains or losses and interest income 
which are recognised in the operating result in the 
comprehensive operating statement. When financial assets 
are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified 
from equity to the comprehensive operating statement.

For equity instruments elected to be categorised at FVOCI, 
changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive 
income are not reclassified to profit or loss on derecognition 
of the asset. Dividends from such instruments continue to 
be recognised in the comprehensive operating statement as 
other income when the agency’s right to receive payments 
is established.

The agency does not have any financial assets under this 
category.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified at FVTPL where they do not 
meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI. These assets 
are initially and subsequently recognised at fair value with 
gains or losses recognised in the net result for the year.

The agency does not have any financial assets under this 
category.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. The 
agency’s financial liabilities categorised at amortised cost 
include all accounts payable.

Financial liabilities at fair value through  
profit or loss

Financial liabilities are classified at FVTPL when the 
liabilities are either held for trading or designated as FVTPL. 
Financial liabilities classified at FVTPL are initially and 
subsequently measured at fair value with gains or losses 
recognised in the net result for the year.

For financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, changes in 
the fair value of the liability attributable to changes in the 
agency’s credit risk are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, while remaining changes in the fair value are 
recognised in the net result.

The agency does not have any financial liabilities under this 
category.
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b) Credit risk
The agency has limited credit risk exposure (risk of default). 
In respect of any dealings with organisations external to 
government, the agency has adopted a policy of only dealing 
with creditworthy organisations and obtaining sufficient 
collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of 
mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the 
financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, 
represents the agency’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
without taking account of the value of any collateral or 
other security obtained.

Credit risk relating to receivables is disclosed in Note 10.

c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk the agency will not be able to 
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The agency’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure it will always 
have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities when they fall 
due. This is achieved by ensuring minimum levels of cash 
are held in the agency bank account to meet various current 
employee and supplier liabilities. The agency’s exposure 
to liquidity risk is minimal. Cash injections are available 
from the Central Holding Authority in the event of one-off 
extraordinary expenditure items arise that deplete cash 
to levels that compromise the agency’s ability to meet its 
financial obligations.  

The following tables detail the agency’s remaining 
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities, calculated 
based on undiscounted cash flows at reporting date. The 
undiscounted cash flows in these tables differ from the 
amounts included in the balance sheet, which are based on 
discounted cash flows. 
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d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk the fair value of future cash flows of 
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices. It comprises interest rate risk, price risk and 
currency risk. 

e) Interest rate risk
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation is not 
exposed to interest rate risk as agency financial assets and 
financial liabilities are noninterest bearing. 

f) Currency risk
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation is 
not exposed to currency risk as the agency does not 
hold borrowings denominated in foreign currencies or 
transactional currency exposures arising from purchases in a 
foreign currency.

2020 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

Carrying 
amount

Less than  
a year

1 to 5 
years

More than  
5 years Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
LIABILITIES
Payables 59 59 - - 59

Total financial liabilities 59 59 - - 59

2019 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

Carrying 
amount

Less than  
a year

1 to 5 
years

More than  
5 years Total

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000
LIABILITIES
Payables 1,073 1,073 - - 1,073

Total financial liabilities 1,073 1,073 - - 1,073
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20. Related parties

(i) Related parties
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation is a 
government administrative entity and is wholly owned and 
controlled by the Territory Government. Related parties of 
the department include:

 – the portfolio minister and key management personnel 
(KMP) because they have authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the 
department directly

 – close family members of the portfolio minister or KMP 
including spouses, children and dependents

 – all public sector entities that are controlled and 
consolidated into the whole of government financial 
statements

 – any entities controlled or jointly controlled by KMP’s or 
the portfolio minister, or controlled or jointly controlled 
by their close family members.

(ii) Key management personnel (KMP)
Key management personnel of the Department of Trade, 
Business and Innovation are those persons having authority 
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of Department. These include the Minister for 
Northern Australia, Minister for Trade and Major Projects, 
Minister for Business and Innovation, Minister for Defence 
Jobs and Veteran Affairs, Minister for Workforce Training, 
Minister for Renewables, Energy and Essential Services, the 
Chief Executive Officer and the 6 members of the Board of 
Management. 

(iii) Remuneration of key management personnel
The details below excludes the salaries and other benefits 
of Minister for Northern Australia, Minister for Trade and 
Major Projects, Minister for Business and Innovation, 
Minister for Defence Jobs and Veteran Affairs, Minister for 
Workforce Training and Minister for Renewables, Energy 
and Essential Services as the Minister’s remunerations and 
allowances are payable by the Department of the Legislative 
Assembly and consequently disclosed within the Treasurer’s 
annual financial statements.

The aggregate compensation of key management personnel 
of Department of Trade, Business and Innovation is set out 
below:

2019-20 2018-19

$000 $000
Short-term benefits1 2,057 3,079

Post-employment benefits 213 321

Long-term benefits2 - -

Termination benefits - -

Total3 2,270 3,400

(1) Short-term employee benefits include salaries, paid recreation leave and non-monetary benefits.
(2) KMP’s long service leave entitlements are managed by Central Holding Authority, and therefore have not been disclosed in the 
Department’s financial statements
(3) The number of KMP, excluding ministers, decreased compared to 30 June 2019 year-end total of 14 as a result of administrative 
restructuring of the agency.
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(iv) Related party transactions:

Revenue from 
related parties

Payments to  
related parties

Amounts owed by 
related parties

Amounts owed to 
related parties

$000 $000 $000 $000
2020 RELATED PARTY
All NTG Government 
departments 9,907 25,168 198 294

Revenue from 
related parties

Payments to  
related parties

Amounts owed by 
related parties

Amounts owed to 
related parties

$000 $000 $000 $000
2019 RELATED PARTY
All NTG Government 
departments 5,038 21,648 116 262

 

The department’s transactions with other government entities are not individually significant except for Vocational Education 
and Training funding paid to Batchelor Institute of Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education.

Other related party transactions are as follows:

Given the breadth and depth of Territory Government activities, related parties will transact with the Territory public sector in 
a manner consistent with other members of the public including paying stamp duty and other government fees and charges 
and therefore these transactions have not been disclosed. All other related party transactions in excess of $10,000 have been 
provided in the tables below.

Transaction value  
for year ended  
30 June 2020

Net receivable/ 
(payable) as at  
30 June 2020

Commitments as at  
30 June 2020

Transaction type $000 $000 $000
Sales of goods - - -

Purchases of goods - - -

Grants1 - (99) -

Services received - - -
 
1. An entity chaired by a KMP during the year was approved to receive grant funding of $99,000 which was outstanding at year end.

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in 
cash. No guarantees have been given or received. No expense 
has been recognised in the current year for bad or doubtful 
debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.

In financial year 2019, there were no other related party 
transactions in excess of $10,000 identified.

Transactions with Northern Territory Government-
controlled entities

The department’s primary ongoing source of funding is 
received from the Central Holding Authority in the form of 
output appropriation and on-passed Commonwealth national 
partnership and specific-purpose payments.

 

The following table provides quantitative information about 
related party transactions entered into during the year with all 
other Northern Territory Government-controlled entities.
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21. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

a) Contingent liabilities
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation did 
not have quantitatively material contingent liabilities as at 
30 June 2020. In relation to the reporting of contingent 
liabilities, the Treasurer has determined a materiality 
threshold of $5 million. 

Details of unquantifiable but material contingent liabilities 
as at 30 June 2020 granted by the department are 
presented as follows: 

North East Gas Interconnector Project 

Contingent considerations in relation to the North East 
Gas Interconnector Project Development Agreement are 
considered unlikely and consequently no contingent liabilities 
have been disclosed at the reporting date. The Territory will 
continue to assess any risks under the arrangement and 
determine whether any future disclosure is required. 

Darwin Luxury Hotel 

A series of indemnities have been provided in support of the 
Darwin Luxury Hotel Development under the Luxury Hotel 
Transaction Documentation, however, the risks associated 
with the indemnities are considered low and therefore no 
reportable contingent liabilities at the reporting date. 

Port of Darwin 

Contingent considerations in relation to the long-term 
lease of the Port of Darwin are considered unlikely and 
consequently no contingent liabilities have been disclosed 
at this time. The Territory will continue to assess any risks 
under the arrangement and determine whether any future 
disclosure is required.

22. Events subsequent to balance date

No events have arisen between the end of the financial year 
and the date of this report that require adjustment to, or 
disclosure in these financial statements.
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23. Budgetary information

2019-20 
Actual

2019-20 
Original budget Variance Note

Comprehensive Operating Statement $000 $000 $000
INCOME
Grants and subsidies revenue

Current 376 - 376 1

Capital 99 - 99 2

Appropriation

Output 212,169 174,304 37,865 3

Commonwealth 17,543 15,452 2,091 4

Sales of goods and services 1,096 861 235 5

Interest revenue - 2 (2)

Goods and services received free of charge 9,155 4,991 4,164 6

Other income 1,489 - 1,489 7

TOTAL INCOME  241,927 195,610 46,317

EXPENSES  
Employee expenses 31,576 33,615 (2,039) 8

Administrative expenses

Purchases of goods and services 12,354 15,742 (3,388) 9

Repairs and maintenance - 600 (600) 10

Depreciation and amortisation 1,303 1,327 (24)

Other administrative expenses 9,329 4,991 4,338 11

Grants and subsidies expenses

Current 134,014 114,140 19,874 12

Capital 55,823 29,544 26,279 12

TOTAL EXPENSES 244,399 199,959 44,440

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (2,472) (4,349) 1,877

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - - -

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT (2,472) (4,349) 1,877
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Original budget amounts correspond to those disclosed in 
the NTG Budget 2019-20 BP3 Agency Budget Statements 
(May 2019), classified on a basis that is consistent 
with the presentation and classification adopted in the 
corresponding financial statement.

Notes: 

The following note descriptions relate to variances 
greater than 10 per cent or $1,000,000, or where multiple 
significant variances have occurred.

1. The current grants and subsidies revenue relates primarily to 
Commonwealth grant funding, which was not incorporated in the 
original budget.

2. The capital grants and subsidies revenue relates to the funding 
recoveries from a capital program, which was not incorporated in 
the original budget.

3. Output appropriation exceeded the original budget due to 
COVID-19 stimulus programs during 2019-20 resulting in 
additional appropriation.

4. Commonwealth appropriation exceeded the original budget 
due to funding received for the Skilled Australia Fund which was 
not incorporated in the original budget.

5. Sales of goods and services income exceeded budget due to 
the Aboriginal Economic Development Forum income which was 
not incorporated in the budget.

6. Goods and services free of charge exceeded budget due to 
Machinery of Government changes during 2019-20 which 
increased the free of charge services.

7. Other income mainly comprises of recoveries resulting from 
the acquittal of grant programs and training services provided, 
which was not incorporated in the budget.

8. Employee expenses was under budget primarily due to 
Machinery of Government changes during 2019-20 which 
resulted in staff transferring out to DCIS as part of the 
restructure.

9. Purchases of goods and services was under budget primarily 
due to lower than anticipated activity in projects and programs, 
in part due to COVID-19, which are expected to carry into the 
following financial year.

10. Repairs and maintenance expenses was under budget due to 
Machinery of Government changes during 2019-20 resulting in 
these costs being transferred to DIPL.

11. Other expenses exceeded budget primarily due to Machinery 
of Government changes during 2019-20 which increased the 
free of charge services.

12. Current and capital grants and subsidies expenses exceeded 
the original budget primarily due COVID-19 stimulus programs 
during 2019-20, which was not incorporated in the original 
budget.
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2019-20 
Actual

2019-20 
Original budget Variance Note

Balance Sheet $000 $000 $000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and deposits 62,595 15,550 47,045 1

Receivables 2,113 1,483 630 2

Advances and investments - 30,000 (30,000) 3

Prepayments 347 793 (446) 4

Total current assets 65,055 47,826 17,229

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15,802 15,565 237

Heritage and cultural assets 7 7 -

Total non-current assets 15,809 15,572 237

TOTAL ASSETS 80,864 63,398 17,466

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Payables 38,585 1,818 36,767 5

Provisions 4,862 4,350 512 6

Other liabilities 275 248 27 7

Total current liabilities 43,722 6,416 37,306

Non-Current liabilities

Other liabilities 500 - 500 7

Total Non-current liabilities 500 - 500

TOTAL LIABILITIES 44,222 6,416 37,806

NET ASSETS 36,642 56,982 (20,340)

EQUITY
Capital 48,777 51,393 (2,616) 8

Equity injections/withdrawals - 25,000 (25,000) 8

Accumulated funds (12,135) (19,411) 7,276 9

TOTAL EQUITY 36,642 56,982 (20,340)
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Original budget amounts correspond to those disclosed in 
the NTG Budget 2019-20 BP3 Agency Budget Statements 
(May 2019), classified on a basis that is consistent 
with the presentation and classification adopted in the 
corresponding financial statement.

Notes: 
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater 
than 10 per cent or $1,000,000, or where multiple significant 
variances have occurred.

1. Cash and deposits exceeded budget primarily due to 
the timing of payments for COVID-19 stimulus grants. The 
appropriation for the COVID-19 stimulus grants was receipted 
in the current financial year 2019-20, however, all of the 
payments for the associated expenses incurred had not yet 
been made at 30 June. As a result due to this timing difference, 
cash has exceeded budget at 30 June 2020.

2. Receivables exceeded budget due to the result of an increase 
in GST receivables at the end of June 2020.

3. The Local Jobs Fund did not have any approved loan 
applications prior to the end of the financial year and as a result 
no advance was required.

4. Prepayments was under budget due to a reduced number of 
prepayments for business events and subscriptions at 30 June 
2020.

5. Payables exceeded budget primarily due to the amounts 
payable to recipients at year end for the COVID-19 stimulus 
programs ($37.4 million).

6. Provisions exceeded budget primarily due to the increase 
in employee leave entitlements as a result of the impact from 
COVID-19 restrictions.

7. Other liabilities exceeded budget due to funds received in 
advance for the Beetaloo Basin project which is scheduled to 
commence from 1 July 2020 and continue for a period of 2 
years.

8. Capital and equity injections was under budget primarily due 
to the injection for the Local Jobs Fund not occurring in 2019-
20 as the Local Jobs Fund did not have any approved loan 
applications prior to the end of the financial year.

9. The variance in accumulated funds represents the variance 
between the actual and budgeted operating statement 
performance.
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2019-20 
Actual

2019-20 
Original budget Variance Note

 Cash Flow Statement $000 $000 $000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES
Operating receipts

Grants and subsidies received
Current 376 - 376 1
Capital 99 - 99 2

Appropriation 
Output 212,169 174,304 37,865 3

Commonwealth 17,543 15,452 2,091 4
Receipts from sales of goods and services 9,481 861 8,620 5
Interest received - 2 (2)
Total operating receipts 239,668 190,619 49,049

Operating payments
Payments to employees 30,733 33,615 (2,882) 6
Payments for goods and services 18,656 16,342 2,314 7
Grants and subsidies paid

Current 132,270 114,140 18,130 8
Capital 20,219 29,544 (9,325) 9

Total operating payments 201,878 193,641 8,237
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 37,790 (3,022) 40,812

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing payments
Advances and investing payments - 20,000 (20,000) 10
Total investing payments - 20,000 (20,000)
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities - (20,000) 20,000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Financing receipts
Equity injections - 25,000 (25,000) 11
Total financing receipts - 25,000 (25,000)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities - 25,000 (25,000)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 37,790 1,978 35,812
Cash at beginning of financial year 24,805 13,572 11,233

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 62,595 15,550 47,045
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Original budget amounts correspond to those disclosed in 
the NTG Budget 2019-20 BP3 Agency Budget Statements 
(May 2019), classified on a basis that is consistent 
with the presentation and classification adopted in the 
corresponding financial statement.

Notes: 

The following note descriptions relate to variances 
greater than 10 per cent or $1,000,000, or where multiple 
significant variances have occurred.

1. The current grants and subsidies revenue relates primarily to 
Commonwealth grant funding, which was not incorporated in 
the original budget.

2. The capital grants and subsidies revenue relates to the 
funding recoveries from a capital program, which was not 
incorporated in the original budget.

3. Output appropriation exceeded the original budget due to 
COVID-19 stimulus programs during 2019-20 resulting in 
additional appropriation.

4. Commonwealth appropriation exceeded the original budget 
due to funding received for the Skilled Australia Fund which was 
not incorporated in the original budget.  

5. Receipts from sales of goods and services exceeded budget 
primarily due to unbudgeted GST refunds of $6.9 million during 
the year and unbudgeted other income receipts of $1.48 
million.  

6. Payments to employees was under budget primarily due 
to Machinery of Government changes during 2019-20 
which resulted in staff transferring out to DCIS as part of the 
restructure.

7. Payments for goods and services exceeded budget primarily 
due to reduced activity on projects and programs, partly due to 
COVID-19, offset by the timing of payments from the previous 
financial year and Machinery of Government changes which 
resulted in the Office of Investment Attraction and Office of 
Energy programs transferring to DTBI.

8. Current grants and subsidies payments exceeded the original 
budget primarily due COVID-19 stimulus programs during 
2019-20, which was not incorporated in the original budget.

9. Capital grant and subsidies payments was under budget as a 
result of the timing of payments related to the Local Jobs Fund 
being transferred to future years, offset by payments for the 
COVID-19 stimulus program during 2019-20, which was not 
incorporated in the original budget.

10. The Local Jobs Fund did not have any approved loan 
applications prior to the end of the financial year and as a result 
no advance was required.    

11. Equity injections was under budget due to the injection for 
the Local Jobs Fund not occurring during 2019-20 as the Local 
Jobs Fund did not have any approved loan applications prior to 
the end of the financial year.    
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Appendix A - Governance committees
Board of Management

PURPOSE 

The BOM provides and exercises the highest-level whole-of-department strategic leadership and 
decision-making respectively, and sets and monitors the strategic direction and performance of 
the department.

Membership at 30 June 2020

Role Position Name

Chair Chief Executive Officer Shaun Drabsch

Member Deputy Chief Executive Officer Sibylle Brautigam

Member General Manager Investment Territory Luke Bowen

Member General Manager Economic Innovation Anne Tan

Member Senior Executive Director Business and Workforce Catherine White

Member Senior Executive Director Commercial Facilitation Hayley Richards

Member Chief Financial Officer Sophia Tutton

Ex-Officio Member Business Connector, Enterprise Services, DCIS Zoe Malone

Secretariat Senior Executive Officer (acting) Enza Matarazzo

Summary of work performed during 2019-20

 – Met monthly throughout 2019-20 and held additional strategic planning sessions throughout the year 

 – Refreshed the 2017-2021 Strategic Directions, including refreshing the key deliverables for the year

 – Planned, implemented and reviewed the department’s overall progress towards the achievement of its annual key 
deliverables and 2017-2021 Strategic Directions

 – Planned, implemented and reviewed the department’s overall progress towards implementation of the department’s 
transition to a refreshed agency structure and functions

 – Led the strategic oversight of a number of critical departmental response responsibilities relating to COVID-19, including the 
Jobs Rescue and Recovery Plan, rapid response business engagement and NT Rebound.
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PURPOSE

The EMG promotes information sharing and collaboration on department priorities to support 
innovative and efficient service across the department.

Executive Management Group

Membership at 30 June 2020

Role Position Name
Chair Chief Executive Officer Shaun Drabsch

Member Deputy Chief Executive Officer Sibylle Brautigam

Member General Manager Investment Territory Luke Bowen

Member General Manager Economic Innovation Anne Tan

Member Senior Executive Director Business and Workforce Catherine White

Member Senior Executive Director Commercial Facilitation Hayley Richards

Member Chief Financial Officer Sophia Tutton

Member Senior Executive Director Team Rebound Jason Schoolmeester

Member Director Strategic Engagement and Communications Jill Morris

Member Executive Director Territory Engagement and Delivery Bill Sankey

Member Executive Director Strategy and Partnerships Tracy Clark

Member Senior Director Grants and Business Performance Bardia Bodaghi

Member Executive Director Industry Growth Julie Jenkins

Member Executive Director Office of Sustainable Energy Jim McKay

Member Director Development Strategy Jason Robertson

Member A/Executive Director Economic Reform Belinda Peacocke

Member Senior Director Market Engagement Wendy Pritchard

Member Executive Director Priority Sectors and Trade Scott Wauchope

Member Executive Director Oil and Gas Jason Howe

Member Director Defence and National Security Guy Boekenstein

Member Executive Director Ship Lift Giovina D’Allessandro

Member Director Facilitated Projects Jason Finlay

Ex-Officio Member Business Connector, Enterprise Services, DCIS Zoe Malone

Secretariat Senior Executive Officer (acting) Enza Matarazzo



Department of Trade, Business and Innovation98 

APPENDICES

Summary of work performed during 2019-20

 – Met monthly during 2019-20 and reported to BOM about the performance of the department against the key priorities and 
deliverables of the 2017-2021 Strategic Directions

 – Developed the 2019-20 key deliverables for the 2017-2021 Strategic Directions refresh

 – Tracked and reviewed the 2017-2021 Strategic Directions to include new priorities for the department 

 – Refreshed EMG membership to reflect the new organisational structure

 – Implemented and monitored the department’s transition to a refreshed agency structure and functions 

 – Monitored the strategic and operational departmental responses to COVID-19.

Risk Management and Audit Committee

Membership at 30 June 2020

Role Position Name
Independent Chair Governance and risk consultant and former 

Auditor-General for the NT (1995–2002)
Iain Summers 

Member Deputy Chief Executive Officer Sibylle Brautigam

Member General Manager Investment Territory Luke Bowen

Member Senior Executive Director Business and 
Workforce

Catherine White

Member Executive Director Industry Growth Julie Jenkins

Observer Chief Financial Officer Sophia Tutton

Secretariat Manager Governance and Performance Jemma Bimrose

Summary of work performed during 2019-20

 – Met four times during 2019-20, as required of its Terms of Reference, and reported to the CEO after each meeting, 
noting the key considerations and findings and key areas of risk

 – Refreshed its Terms of Reference

 – Monitored the department’s strategic, emerging and fraud risks and the implementation of risk mitigation strategies 
and impact on the risk rating, in particular, the department’s response to emerging risks arising from COVID-19

 – Provided oversight of the annual internal audit plan, and the implementation of recommendations arising from internal 
and external audits. Refer to Appendix D for further details on internal and external audits conducted during the year

 – Provided the CEO with assurance that the department has met its obligations under the Treasurer’s Directions 
pertaining to internal controls (Part 3 Section 2 Internal Audit and G2.2 Internal Control).

PURPOSE 

The RMAC provides independent assurance and assistance to the CEO in the areas of statutory 
reporting, internal control systems, risk management systems and audit.
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Work Health and Safety Management Committee

Membership at 30 June 2020

Role Position Name
Chair Executive Director Priority Sectors, Investment Territory Scott Wauchope

Member Director Human Resources, DCIS Shirley Wilkshire

Member Executive Director Territory Engagement and Delivery, 
Business and Workforce

Bill Sankey

Member Manager Economic Development, Top End Region, Business 
and Workforce

Gail Carnes

Member Manager Workforce Operations, Business and Workforce Tim Nicol

Member Manager Strategy and Capability, Procurement Leigh Harris

Member A chairperson representative of the workplace committees Rotating position

Member Senior Human Resource Consultant, DCIS Troy Walsh

Secretariat Business Manager, Investment Territory Maria Mamouzellos

Summary of work performed during 2019–20

 – Met four times during 2019-20

 – Continued developing WHS wellbeing initiatives to promote and support health and wellbeing in the workplace

 – Monitored the department’s Workplace WHS Committees to identify incident and hazard trends

 – Maintained the WHS policy and framework

 – Monitored and reported on the number and cost of new and existing workers compensation claims

 – Monitored and reported on the number of workplace incidents recorded in the online incident reporting system

 – Held two special out-of-session meetings in relation to COVID-19 planning and coordination activities and developed 
guiding principles for the department, in collaboration with the Workplace WHS Committees.

PURPOSE

The Work Health and Safety (WHS) Management Committee assists the CEO to meet the 
department’s obligations under the Work Health and Safety (National Uniform Legislation) Act 2011, 
oversees compliance with the department’s WHS policies and frameworks and engages with 
employees through office-specific Workplace Health and Safety Committees to identify and 
manage workplace risks. 
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Information Management Committee

PURPOSE

The Information Management Committee (IMC) oversees the development, implementation, 
performance and continuous improvement of information and communication technology (ICT) 
policies, projects and strategies.

The IMC ensures integration and alignment of ICT architecture and business objectives across 
the department and government, and provides assurance to BOM that department ICT projects 
comply with the Northern Territory Government (NTG) ICT Governance Framework and 
Treasurer’s Directions.

Membership at 30 June 2020

Role Position Name
Chair Senior Executive Director Business and Workforce Catherine White

Member Senior Executive Director Team Rebound Jason Schoolmeester

Member Senior Director Grants and Business Performance Bardia Bodaghi

Member Executive Director Energy and Gas Manufacturing Jason Howe

Member Senior Director Market Engagement Wendy Pritchard

Member Executive Director Industry Growth Julie Jenkins

Secretariat Chief Information Officer, DCIS Marguerite Wall

Summary of work performed during 2019-20

 – Met once during the year

 – Provided oversight of the Direct Entry Level Training Agreements (DELTA) system which was incorporated into the NTG ICT 
Projects for the DCIS Data Centre Transition Program

 – Provided oversight on the enhancements of the VET Data Submission Portal to strengthen security protocols.
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Legislation

Appendix B - Statutory responsibilities and legislation 
administered
Under the Administrative Arrangements Order (No 2) 2020 the department is responsible for general and financial administration 
of the following legislation and areas of government.

Areas of government 

 – Apprenticeships and traineeships

 – Business and industry support and development

 – Business innovation support and development

 – Business and skilled migration

 – Civil space industry

 – Commercial facilitation of major projects and significant 
investments

 – Defence community liaison

 – Development of defence-related industries

 – Desert Knowledge Australia

 – Economic development, including regional economic 
development

 – Economic regulation (energy)

 – Energy policy and strategy

 – Financial assistance to industry associations and business

 – Gas industry development

 – Industry and economic analysis

 – Industry engagement and participation

 – International education and training

 – Ichthys LNG Project Act 2008 

 – National Electricity (Northern Territory) (National Uniform 
Legislation) Act 2015

 – National Gas (Northern Territory) Act 2008

 – Port of Darwin Act 2015

 – Procurement Act 1995

 – Training and Skills Development Act 2016

 – Biological Resources Act 2006

 – Construction Industry Long Service Leave and Benefits 
Act 2005

 – Desert Knowledge Australia Act 2003

 – Electricity Reform Act 2000 (except provisions about 
price regulation, provisions about safety regulation and 
provisions about supply and service provision under 
licence)

 – International engagement, investment promotion and 
market engagement

 – Investment attraction and facilitation

 – Labour market analysis

 – Northern Australia development policy, coordination and 
intergovernmental liaison

 – NT Build

 – Procurement policy and reform

 – Procurement Review Board

 – Quality of training

 – Renewables strategic policy

 – Strategic defence

 – Team NT

 – Territory Business Centres

 – Trade development, strategy and policy

 – Training and employment programs and assistance 
schemes

 – Utilities market regulation (energy)

 – Veterans support

 – Vocational education and training administration
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Appendix C - Statutory and non-statutory authorities and boards
Desert Knowledge Australia
Desert Knowledge Australia Act 2003

Desert Knowledge Australia is established pursuant to section 5 of the Desert Knowledge Australia Act 2003 (the Act) to provide 
direction and oversee the activities of Desert Knowledge Australia. 

The Board of Desert Knowledge Australia is established under Part 3 and sections 11 to 20 of the Act, which serves as its 
legislative framework and the board’s terms of reference.

Local Jobs Fund Investment Committee
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in April 2019

The Local Jobs Fund Investment Committee provides guidance and advice to assist the department’s assessment of Local Jobs 
Fund applications, and makes a recommendation to the department’s CEO, Minister and Cabinet following consideration of the 
assessment prepared by the department in relation to each Local Jobs Fund application.

NT Build
Construction Industry Long Service Leave and Benefits Act 2005

NT Build is a body corporate established pursuant to section 53 of the Construction Industry Long Service Leave and Benefits 
Act 2005 (the Act) to administer the NT Build Portable Long Service Leave Scheme, and to advise and make recommendations 
to the Minister about the operation of the Act.

NT Veterans Affairs Ministerial Advisory Council
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in March 2016

The NT Veterans Affairs Ministerial Advisory Council was established to provide advice and support to the Government on 
issues affecting ADF veterans and their families; to facilitate a collective approach to raising issues important to the veterans’ 
community and assist in collating a body of knowledge to support local veterans’ concerns.

Procurement Review Board
Procurement Act 1995

The Procurement Review Board (PRB) is established pursuant to section 6 of the Procurement Act 1995. The PRB determines 
appeals in relation to the eligibility or admissibility of a quote to tender in accordance with the Procurement Directions; 
reviews or audits agencies’ procurement procedures or procurement activity; and advises the Minister, agencies or any other 
person in relation to procurement procedures or procurement activity in agencies.

Strategic Defence Advisory Board
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in December 2014

The Strategic Defence Advisory Board comprises defence sector specialists that provide strategic advice and information to 
Government on matters that will support the expansion of Defence capabilities and operations in the NT. The Board serves 
as an important conduit between the NT and Defence through its engagements and relationships with senior Australian and 
foreign governments, Defence Force leaders and Australia’s military allies.
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Small Business Survival Fund Skilled Advisory Board
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in March 2020

The Small Business Survival Fund Skilled Advisory Board is a short term advisory board established to provide advice to 
government on the Small Business Survival Fund to assist Territory businesses to survive the economic impacts of the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

Territory Economic Reconstruction Commission
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in March 2020

The time limited Territory Economic Reconstruction Commission was established to provide advice to the Chief Minister, 
Cabinet and agency Chief Executives on accelerating the Territory’s economic rebound post COVID-19 and positioning 
the Territory for growth.

Team Territory
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in March 2020

Team Territory is a key reference group who understand the unique Territory context and provide specialist advice to 
the Territory Economic Reconstruction Commission.  Team Territory is providing advice and support to government and 
Agency Chief Executives around implementation of recommendations made by the Commission for the short, medium 
and long term of NT Rebound.

Appendix D - Corporate governance
Internal audits
The department provides objective assurance of our activities through its internal audit function, with reports provided to 
the RMAC.

Recommendations to strengthen internal controls and improve performance management arising from those audits have been 
adopted by the department and are implemented progressively.

A summary of internal audits undertaken during the 2019-20 year are per below:  

Audit Scope

Compliance with NT Procurement Rules 
and Value for Territory Assurance Program

Reviewed the department’s compliance with the Procurement Rules and Buy 
Local Plan, encompassed the requirements of the Value for Territory assurance 
program

Compliance with NT Travel Policy 
Framework

Reviewed the department’s compliance with the Whole-of-Government Travel 
Policy and Framework and the department’s specific internal travel policies and 
procedures

Cabinet Submissions

Reviewed the department’s compliance with the NTG Cabinet Handbook 
and the department’s internal policies and procedures, included whether the 
department’s handling of Cabinet submissions were efficient and provided 
assurance that confidentiality protocols were met

Small Business Survival Fund
Reviewed the department’s compliance with the terms and conditions and 
internal processes and determined whether there were any internal control 
gaps and process improvements

Home Improvement Scheme
Reviewed the department’s compliance with the terms and conditions of the 
scheme and internal processes and determined any internal control gaps and 
process improvements
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External audits
The Auditor-General of the NT conducted audits on our compliance and internal controls, procedures and practices in 
accordance with the Audit Act 1995. 

A summary of external and performance management system audits undertaken during the 2019-20 year are per below: 

Audit Scope

2018-19 End of Year Review

The objective of the audit was to review the adequacy of the selected aspects of end 
of financial year controls over reporting, accounting and material financial transactions 
and balances of the department

The audit found that the department’s accounting and control procedures were 
generally satisfactory with no significant matters reported

2018-19 Agency Compliance 
Audit

The audit examined selected aspects of systems in use by the department, as required 
by Treasurer’s Direction Part 3, Section 1 and Procurement Governance Policy and 
the Procurement Rules which set out the Accountable Officer’s responsibilities in 
respect of the financial management of the department, with the objective of obtaining 
reasonable assurance that those requirements were being achieved

The audit found that, in general, the department’s accounting and control procedures 
provided reasonable assurance that the responsibilities of the Accountable Officer were 
met, with one issue noted relating to travel expenditure

Performance Management System 
Audit Local Jobs Fund

The objective of the audit was to review the systems and processes in place to support 
the Local Jobs Fund and manage the suite of products offered through the Fund

That report noted that the timing of the audit was intended to enable 
recommendations to be made and addressed prior to the fund being opened to accept 
applications, and systems and processes were still in the implementation phase

Performance Management System 
Audit Port of Darwin Lease

The objective of the audit was to assess the performance management systems in place 
to manage the contractual terms and conditions associated with the Port of Darwin 
lease

Three recommendations were made, and adopted by the department, two were 
implemented and the third is in progress

Applications under the Information Act 2002

Application Type 2019-20

Access government information 7

Access personal information -

Correct personal information -
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Appendix E - Grants
Business and innovation grants and funding

Grant Purpose Value ($000)

Business Growth 
Program

A suite of innovative grants and funded consultant services to assist business in 
improving viability

1 311 

Smarter Business 
Solutions

To fund technical advice, assistance and guidance to businesses looking to adopt 
resource-efficient practices

643 

Community Based 
Childcare Centre 
Program

To provide grants and fund consultancy services to parent managed community 
based child care services to strengthen their viability by ensuring good 
governance and effective business systems 

116 

Aboriginal Business 
Development Program

To assist Aboriginal people and joint ventures (where Aboriginal people held 
significant equity) to enter or expand commercial business arrangements, that 
supports and facilitates employment and/or wealth creation opportunities

647 

Industry Support 
Program

To fund peak industry bodies to assist with industry sector development 5 222 

Business Innovation 
Support Initiatives

Funding to initiate and promote innovation by assisting businesses in commencing 
research and development projects in the areas of science, engineering, 
technology and design

Business 
Innovation Support 
Initiatives

Funding, mentorship and support to initiate and promote innovation through 
research and development of innovative concepts

708 

Business 
Accelerator 
Program

Funding to deliver a series of clinics and modules designed to provide businesses 
with high growth potential with the clarity they required to analyse their business, 
develop opportunities and address barriers to expedite growth

110 

Innovator in 
Residence Program

Funding to mentor and support applicants of the Business Innovation Program in 
creating their Innovation Commercialisation Plan

145 

Innovation 
Ecosystem 
Program

Supported the NT Innovation Ecosystem with news and relevant events to keep 
the ecosystem active and connected and allowed for greater flow of ideas and 
expertise

59 

Digital Partnership 
Program

Funding to foster partnerships between the Territory’s ICT sector and other local 
industries and encouraged the development of innovative digital solutions to 
meet local challenges and support economic growth

383 

Home Renovation 
Grants

Renovation grant funding for first home buyers of an existing property of up to 
$10 000, of which a maximum of $2 000 could be spent on household goods 

8 648 

Smart Energy Grants Assisted Territorians to access energy-efficient initiatives for their homes 8 
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Grant Purpose Value ($000)

Biz Secure
Helped eligible Territory businesses access funding to undertake permanent 
security improvements to protect their premises against break-ins

4 856 

Alcohol Secure
Helped eligible Territory businesses access funding to undertake permanent 
security improvements to protect their stock of alcohol against theft and damage 

352 

Welcome to the 
Territory Incentive

In line with the NT Population Growth Strategy 2018-2028, funding to boost and 
retain the Territory’s population by targeting interstate workers to fill high priority 
occupations

304 

Jobs Rescue and 
Recovery Plan

The Plan was introduced as a result of COVID-19 and committed to protecting 
Territory businesses and keeping Territorians in jobs. 

Home 
Improvement 
Scheme

Grants of up to $6 000 for home owners and investors to undertake improvement 
works to their Territory home

31 413 

Business 
Improvement 
Grant

Grants of up to $20 000 for Territory businesses to improve their commercial 
premises 

3 086

Immediate Work 
Grant

Grants of up to $100 000 for Territory not-for-profit organisations to make 
permanent improvements to their premises

4 325

Small Business 
Survival Fund

To help small business survive the unprecedented economic impact of COVID-19 
and pivot to accommodate the new operating environment

39 441 

Home and Business 
Battery Scheme

Grants of up to $6 000 for homeowners, businesses and not-for-profit 
organisations to offset the cost of installing batteries and inverters

516

TOTAL  102 293

Economic development and small business grants and funding 

Grant Purpose Value ($000)

Barkly Regional Deal

The Barkly Regional Deal is introducing 28 new initiatives to drive economic 
growth and address regional issues in the Barkly region. This funding was 
provided to the Juno Agricultural Training Centre and the Jobs Profile Audit to 
underpin the Regional Workforce Strategy

495

Regional Economic 
Development Fund

Supported the development of businesses and industry in all regions of the NT, 
with one-off payments that contributed to the total cost of a project

429 

Remote Aboriginal 
Economic 
Development Fund

Supported initiatives in remote communities that had a positive impact on 
economic development, employment opportunities and improving governance 
and capacity in communities

115 

TOTAL  1 039 
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Workforce grants and funding

Grant Purpose Value ($000)

Aboriginal Employment Program

Aboriginal 
Responsive Skilling 
Grants

Funding for training to meet the needs of Aboriginal people living in urban, 
regional and remote Territory  communities

1 255 

Aboriginal 
Apprentices and 
Trainees Program 
for Regional and 
Remote Areas

Funding to Group Training NT to support Aboriginal people and employers in the 
regions

200 

Aboriginal 
Workforce Grants 
and Project 
Partnerships

Supported initiatives that resulted in sustainable jobs or career advancement for 
Aboriginal people

424 

NDIS Remote 
Workforce 
Programs

Grant funding to assist employers with workforce development to support 
delivery of disability services

6 

Territory 
Workforce 
Programs

Supported the development and implementation of workforce initiatives to 
maximise job opportunities for Territorians and strengthen the skills of Territorians 
to meet the needs of business and industry through the Skilling Australians Fund 
National Partnership

938 

Pre-employment 
Training

To give people the practical skills needed to help them get a job, apprenticeship or 
traineeship, with priority given to programs that led to employment in occupation 
shortage areas

427 

Industry Buildskills  Assisted NT employers to upskill or reskill existing workers 793 

User Choice Funding
Funding for RTOs to provide training and assessment for apprentices and trainees 
to achieve nationally recognised qualifications 

20 803 

Equity Training Grants

Funding for programs that increased training and employment opportunities 
for people with disabilities; parents returning to the workplace after an absence 
of five years or more; long-term unemployed migrants; refugees; mature-aged 
people and very long-term unemployed people, or those at risk of becoming very 
long-term unemployed

101 

Provider Training 
Funding

Recurrent operational funding for organisations, student entitlements and training 
loans schemes

46 191 
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Grant Purpose Value ($000)
Other funding

Australian 
Apprenticeship 
Centre

Funding for the delivery and management of regulatory functions of the Training 
and Skills Development Act and employer and apprentice incentives

1 915 

Employer Support 
Scheme

Financial support to NT businesses who employed apprentices and trainees at the 
Certificate III to Diploma level

2 000 

Industry Advice
Funded Industry Skills Advisory Council NT to act as the conduit between 
industry and the NTG on training needs, and to identify current and emerging skill 
and workforce development requirements of Territory industry

3 285 

NT Working 
Women’s Centre

Provided information, advice, case management and referral for NT women 
about work related issues; including pay, working conditions, unfair dismissal, 
superannuation, discrimination, harassment and workplace bullying

199 

Workwear / 
Workgear Bonus 

Financial support to Territory apprentices and trainees undertaking training at the 
Certificate II to Diploma level

980 

Population 
Initiatives

Skills Recognition Centre provided:
 – advice to individuals and worked with them to navigate skills assessments;
 – qualification comparative assessments;
 – career advice and support on upskilling via recognition and training;
 – English language proficiency tests

674 

Future Skills 
Program

Funding to address the potential impacts on the Territory’s economy, specifically 
as a result of Industry 4.0, by targeting future trends and skills training needs

811 

Training  
Infrastructure 
Fund

Provided infrastructure support to private RTOs and relevant industry 
organisations to ensure they had contemporary training facilities and technology 
to enable additional innovative delivery in the Territory and expand the 
international student market

291 

Centre for 
Appropriate 
Technology

Funding provided to Centre for Appropriate Technology to deliver a range of VET 
programs and infrastructure in urban, regional and remote locations

490 

Desert Peoples 
Centre

Funding provided for repairs and maintenance of the Desert Peoples Centre 
facilities

194 

Higher Education 
Scholarships

Higher education scholarships were awarded to year 12 graduates undertaking 
their first degree. Scholarships were worth $5 000 per year

680

NT Training 
Awards

The awards were an official recognition of excellence and achievements in gaining 
the highest standards of knowledge and skills, in contributing to high standards of 
training, and for personal achievement in the VET sector, with 13 awards in total 
for individuals and organisations, and winners represented the NT at the national 
awards

46 

Skills Employment 
and Careers Expo

The expo provided Territorians with information and access to career options, 
including VET, higher education and other training pathways. It also assisted 
in the understanding of the local, regional and national job market and how to 
acquire the skills and qualifications required to enter, progress and succeed in that 
marketplace 

171 

Worldskills

Provided funding to WorldSkills Australia to run programs of competitions and 
international pathways that inspires excellence in skills and instils confidence 
in young people to succeed, through competitions held on a regional level and 
opportunities for teams to display their skills at the national and international level

11 
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Grant Purpose Value ($000)
StudyNT  Grants that encouraged and supported international students to study in the NT

Australian Trade 
Commission 
Partnership

Study Australia Partnership to promote the Territory through ‘Team Australia’ and 
‘Study with Australia’ events and digital promotion

20 

International 
Students 
Wellbeing Grant

Grants for local businesses, student groups and other organisations to deliver 
events and activities that enhanced the wellbeing of international students 
studying in the Territory

262 

Study in the NT 
Scholarship

Joint scholarships with education providers for talented international students to 
study in the Territory

37 

NT Cattlemen’s 
Association

Supported the 2019 Indonesia Australia Pastoral Program alumni function in 
January 2020

20 

MigrationNT  

Australian Hotels 
Association 
Worker Attraction 
Campaign

Provided the Australian Hotels Association with a grant to deliver a national 
worker attraction campaign specifically targeting experienced hospitality workers 
to address ongoing skill shortages in that sector.  Due to COVID-19 pandemic and 
resultant border closures this activity has been postponed 

119 

Chamber of 
Commerce 
Seasonal Worker 
Project

Year three of a five-year funding agreement to deliver support services to 
employers throughout the Territory to address seasonal and low skilled labour 
workforce shortages specifically in relation to the Australian Government 
Seasonal Worker Program and Pacific Labour Scheme

150 

TOTAL  83 493 
 

Other grants

Grant Purpose Value ($000)

Trade Support Scheme
Provided funding of up to 50 per cent of the cost of approved activities to help 
NT businesses offset the costs of international marketing activities 

323

DefenceNT
Provided funding to support defence community organisations and the defence 
industry in the NT

381

TOTAL 704
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Appendix F - Major and facilitated projects
Projects with major project status
As at 30 June 2020, there were 13 private sector projects across the NTG that had major project status as outlined in the 
following table:

Proponent Project Description and status

Arafura 
Resources

Nolans Rare 
Earth 

In November 2018 Arafura Resources announced that it would site its separation facility 
at the mine near Aileron, some 135 kilometres north of Alice Springs. The Nolan’s rare 
earth facility is now a $1.3 billion mine, beneficiation and intermediate processing and 
separation plant. Products are phosphoric acid; Neodymium-Praseodymium oxide; SEG 
Heavy Rare Earth Carbonate; and Cerium Hydroxide. Arafura Resources have received 
approval of Mineral Leases and proposes to achieve its final investment decision by 
December 2020

Halikos Group Northcrest
The old Berrimah Farm redevelopment will occur over a period of around 15 years, in 
11 stages and comprises more than 2000 dwellings, a mixed use secondary activity 
centre, a research precinct and two primary schools 

KGL 
Resources

Jervois Copper 
Project

A $217 million open cut and underground mine 380 kilometres north east of 
Alice Springs with onsite processing to produce copper/gold/silver concentrate and 
lead/zinc concentrate 

Neptune 
Energy

Petrel Gas 
Project 

Neptune Energy is examining all options to develop the reserves at the Petrel gas field, 
located in the Bonaparte Basin, approximately 250 kilometres west south west of 
Darwin 

Seafarms 
Group Limited

Project Sea 
Dragon

A $2.14 billion world class aquaculture business to produce more than 100 000 tonnes 
of prawns per year, grown in 10 000 hectares of ponds at Legune 

Sun Cable
Australia ASEAN 
Power Link

A $19 billion renewable energy project to construct a 10 gigawatt solar farm and  
20 – 32 gigawatt hour storage facility, which will export power to, via a high voltage 
direct current transmission line and submarine cable, to Singapore  

Tellus Holding
Chandler Salt 
Mine 

A $676 million underground salt mine with an allied processing and packaging facility, 
with a waste and licensed storage facility in the resultant void

Thor Mining Molyhil A $69.3 million molybdenum and tungsten mine 220 kilometres from Alice Springs

TNG Limited
Mount Peake 
Mine 

A $207 million iron-vanadium-titanium mine and beneficiation facility located 
235 kilometres north-north west of Alice Springs with a $546 million TiVAN® processing 
facility proposed for Middle Arm, Darwin

Verdant 
Minerals 
Limited

Ammaroo 
Phosphate

After a 2019 buy-out by an international investor, the project has undergone a 
significant scope change to expand Ammaroo into a $1.4 billion phosphoric acid and 
processing facility with upstream mining, processing located 180 kilometres south east 
of Tennant Creek 

Vista Gold
Mount Todd 
Gold Mine

A $1.5 billion open cut gold mine, 55 kilometres north of Katherine 

Whittaker 
Street 
Developments 

Alice Springs 
Hospital 
Accommodation 

A $25 million, residential construction project to build 70 residential units in Alice 
Springs. The NTG, through a competitive market process, has entered into a contract to 
lease the units to house medical professionals

*Note: One project is unable to be disclosed at the time of report publication
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Facilitated investment projects
As at 30 June 2020, the department had responsibility for the delivery of 11 facilitated investment projects valued at over 
$30 billion as outlined in the following table: 

Project Proponent Description Status
Alice Springs 
Tourism and 
Commercial 
Precinct

To be 
announced  
(TBA)

Development of a new and unique mixed 
use tourism commercial development

The government continued engagement with 
native title holders in Alice Springs regarding 
development opportunities

Darwin Westin 
Hotel (formerly 
Darwin Luxury 
Hotel)

Landbridge 
Development of a Darwin luxury hotel at 
the Darwin Waterfront

The government continued to facilitate 
delivery of the $200 million Darwin 
Westin Hotel including commencement of 
construction for early works  

Darwin Port 
Lease

Landbridge 
Group

Darwin Port has been leased for 99 years 
to the Landbridge Group with Landbridge 
paying $506 million for the lease

The department continued to facilitate 
strategic engagement and partnership 
between Landbridge and the government 
through ongoing management of the Darwin 
Port lease

Darwin Data 
Centre Precinct 

TBA

Development of a data centre precinct 
to support the vision for the Territory to 
become Australia’s most advanced digital 
economy and Australia’s digital gateway to 
Asia and beyond

Draft feasibility study completed  

Ichthys LNG INPEX 

The project is one of the world’s most 
complex gas developments, incorporating 
the whole chain of development and 
production components—subsea, offshore, 
pipeline and onshore. Expected to produce 
8.9 million tonnes per annum (mtpa) of 
LNG, 1.6 mtpa of LPG and 100 000 barrels 
of condensate per day at peak

 40 year operating life commenced in 2018, 
and currently in contract management phase 
of development

Mount Isa to 
Tennant Creek 
Railway

TBA
Around 620 kilometres standard gauge 
railway connecting the Darwin to Adelaide 
line with the Mount Isa to Townsville line

The NT, Queensland and Australian 
Governments commissioned a strategic 
options paper to consider options to advance 
the railway. Technical assessment to de-risk 
the engineering and environmental elements 
of the project was completed. These reports 
were publicly available and the project is not 
being actively pursued
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Project Proponent Description Status

Seniors Lifestyle 
Accommodation 
in Darwin and 
Alice Springs

TBA

Development of retirement villages in 
Darwin Urban

A preferred proponent was identified 
for the Darwin Urban Senior Lifestyle 
Accommodation to commence negotiations

Development of retirement village in 
Alice Springs

An Expression of Interest for the Alice Springs 
Senior Lifestyle Accommodation closed in 
May 2020 with submissions to be evaluated 
and any shortlisted proponents invited 
to progress to the Request for Detailed 
Proposals stage  

Development of retirement villages in 
Darwin Rural

The Request for Detailed Proposals stage 
for the Darwin Rural Senior Lifestyle 
Accommodation did not identify a suitable 
proponent.  A preferred site is available for 
development and the project is not being 
actively pursued  

Northern Gas 
Pipeline

Jemena 
Northern 
Gas Pipeline 
Pty Ltd

Construction of a 622 kilometres pipeline 
from Tennant Creek to Mount Isa, 
linking the NT Gas Grid with the Eastern 
Australian Gas Grid 

Construction was completed in October 2018 
with commercial operations commencing on 
3 January 2019

Ship Lift 
and Marine 
Industries

NTG

NTG committed $100 million to 
developing ship lift infrastructure. 
The Northern Australia Infrastructure 
Facility is investing $300 million to 
enable development of this sovereign 
infrastructure. The project will catalyse 
development of a new marine engineering 
and servicing sector to grow Darwin as 
a marine service centre for Northern 
Australia

Government continued to progress 
numerous aspects of work including design, 
procurement strategy, and studies to inform 
the environmental impact statement 

Super Yacht 
Facilities

TBA

Darwin is strategically located, and offers 
the potential to establish a super yacht 
industry servicing hub for Northern 
Australia 

Strategic business case is complete. 
Government considering next steps

Luxury Lodge 
Accommodation

TBA

The development of new luxury 
accommodation experiences that leverage 
the NT’s natural environment offer the 
potential to grow a high-value segment of 
the tourism industry

Strategic business case is complete. 
Government considering next steps
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Appendix G - Engagement activities 
Inbound missions and delegations

Date Delegation name Country engaged Outcomes/follow-up 

July 2019
Lombok 
delegation

Indonesia

Governor of West Nusa Tenggara and delegates attended 
an Investment Territory Roundtable meeting where the 
main focus was on advancing bilateral trade, education and 
training, particularly at the VET level 

July 2019 –  
March 2020

Diplomatic 
delegations and 
engagement

China, Indonesia, 
Thailand, Portugal, 
France 

The department facilitated international engagement across 
government by leading and supporting international business 
and Ministerial delegations, attending targeted international 
and domestic trade shows and business councils and 
developing tailored visits programs for international officials 
and business representatives

July 2019
Ba Ria Vung Tau 
delegation

Vietnam

The department hosted a roundtable meeting with the 
visiting Ba Ria Vung Tau delegation. Ba Ria Vung Tau and 
the NT are seeking to further progress activities under the 
2007 Memorandum of Understanding with a focus on trade, 
education and training, particularly at the VET level 

October 2019
Timor-Leste Trade 
Invest

Timor-Leste

The department met with two Timor-Leste Trade and Invest 
directors who visited Darwin to further progress activities 
under the Strategic Partnership Agreement between our two 
jurisdictions

November 2019

Australia, 
Indonesia, Timor-
Leste sub-regional 
economic trilateral 

Timor-Leste

Indonesia

Trilateral delegation consisting of Timor-Leste, Indonesian 
and Australian representatives facilitated and led by the 
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade

December 2019
Shenzhen 
Municipal 
Government

China
Hosted a delegation from Shenzhen Municipal Government 
including a roundtable of industry and government officials

December 2019
Timor-Leste Trade 
and Invest public 
sector interns

Timor-Leste

The department hosted two Timor-Leste Trade Invest 
public sector interns.  The interns: Mr Mateus Fernandes, 
Director of Administration and Finance and Mr Elias 
Goncalves Boavida Soares, Technical Support (Promotion 
and Image) TradeInvest Timor-Leste. Both interns 
undertook professional development and upskilling with 
the department’s Market Engagement and Commercial 
Facilitation teams, Department of Education, Department 
of Treasury and Finance and at the National Critical Care 
Trauma Relief Centre

March 2020
Tan Hiep Phat 
Group

Vietnam
The department hosted Dr Tran Qui Thanh of Tan Hiep 
Phat Group to explore new investment opportunities as an 
existing investor considering re-investment

March 2020 Ho Phat Group Vietnam
The department hosted a technical team to explore mining 
investment opportunities in the Territory
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Outbound missions and delegations

Date Delegation name Target country Outcomes/follow-up 

July 2019
Chief Minister 
NTG delegation to 
Timor-Leste

Timor-Leste

The Chief Minister led an NTG delegation to Timor-Leste on  
8 July 2019 to attend a bi-lateral ministerial meeting and to sign a 
new three-year Strategic Partnership Agreement with the Timor-Leste 
Government. The agreement recognises and reinforces the strong 
relationship that exists between the NT and Timor-Leste 

September 
2019 Facing North 2019 Canberra

A collaborative arrangement between government and the Darwin 
Major Business Group that aimed to forge key relationships for the 
future business and economic benefit of the Territory. The event 
provided a unique opportunity to connect with key government and 
business decision-makers. 164 delegates travelled from the Territory, 
with recorded RSVPs of 331 and estimated attendance by around  
400 guests including federal parliamentarians and staff.

October 
2019

World Indigenous 
Business Forum

Canada

 Attendance  at this forum was to ensue promotion, connection and 
support of the event, as Darwin will be hosting the Forum in 2021. 
Each forum attracts hundreds of participants as well as the attention 
of thousands of Indigenous business-minded people around the world

October 
2019

Australia-Japan 
Joint Business 
Conference

Japan 

The Australia Japan Business Co-operation Committee’s (AJBCC’s) 
annual business conference is a unique forum for discussion amongst 
senior Australian and Japanese executives, open exclusively to AJBCC 
and Japan Australia Business Co-operation Committee (JABCC) 
members.

October 
2019

Pacific 2019 
International 
Maritime 
Exposition

Sydney
The department led an NT industry delegation of 12 business and  
3 industry associations to the exposition

October 
2019

Reaching South to 
the Territory

China

The Chief Minister led the second delegation to South China for the 
‘Reaching South to the Territory’ event in Shenzhen. The delegation 
comprised NTG officers and local businesses and showcased the 
Territory to business and industry representatives in the Territory’s 
key industry sectors including agriculture, international education and 
training; oil and gas, minerals, energy and tourism

Events were held during the two-day visit, including showcase dinner, 
Trade and Investment Plenary, and roundtables and seminars

The Team NT delegation comprised:
 – 76  businesses and industry representatives, and
 – 26  NTG representatives

October 
2019

International 
Astronautical 
Congress

USA
To promote the Territory an as attractive investment destination for 
the space industry 

October 
2019

Singapore 
International 
Energy Week

Singapore
Attended the Heads of ASEAN Power Utilities and Authorities Council 
Meeting and Singapore International Energy Week
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Date Delegation name Target country Outcomes/follow-up 

October 
2019

International 
education and 
training

Indonesia

Mission to Lombok and Jakarta with Minister Uibo to promote the 
Territory as a study destination for international students, participate 
in the inaugural Indonesia VET Summit and to promote Territory 
VET providers’ capacity and capability to deliver in Indonesia (trans-
national education delivery)

The delegation included five NTG representatives, two staff members 
from Charles Darwin University and seven international education and 
training providers

November 
2019

40th Australia 
Korea/Korea 
Australia joint 
meeting

Sydney
Attended the 40th Australia Korea/Korea Australia joint meeting to 
foster relationships with Korean investors

November 
2019

Australia 
Indonesia/
Indonesia Australia 
joint conference 

Indonesia
Indonesia Australia Business Council and Australia Indonesia Business 
Council joint conference 

November 
2019

BIMP-EAGA 
senior officials 
meeting

Malaysia
The department attended the BIMP-EAGA dialogue meeting in 
Sarawak, Malaysia.  Main focus for the meeting was progressing the 
agreed plan of action and further discussion on Technical VET

December 
2019

Chief Minister’s 
2019 Peace in the 
Pacific study tour

USA
Five NT students participated in the Chief Minister’s 2019 Peace in 
the Pacific study tour

December 
2019

Showcase of the 
Territory’s migrant 
and investment 
potential

Vietnam

The department targeted small to medium enterprises and small 
to mid-cap investors in Ho Chi Minh, Hanoi and Nha Trang. These 
locations were targeted to attract Australian permanent residents 
with a net worth, entrepreneurs and businesses to create links to the 
Territory

February 
2020

Global Space 
and Technology 
Convention

Singapore
Promoted the Territory as an attractive investment destination for the 
space industry

February 
2020 

EvokeAG Melbourne
Business and industry delegation that attended EvokeAG, Asia 
Pacific’s premier agrifood tech event

February 
2020

Investor and 
migrant attraction

Nepal, India,  
Sri Lanka

The department targeted small to medium enterprises and small to 
midcap investors in Nepal, India and Sri Lanka. These locations were 
targeted to attract Australian permanent residents with a net worth, 
entrepreneurs and businesses to create links to the Territory

February 
2020

Team Defence 
Australia 
Singapore Airshow 
2020

Singapore 

The department attended and supported four attending Territory 
businesses at the Singapore Airshow as part of a Team Defence Australia 
led delegation. Also provided representation for a range of non-attending 
local businesses to showcase the Territory’s defence industry capability to 
defence and industry decision makers at the Avalon 2019 tradeshow. The 
department representative met with a broad level of government, military 
and senior corporate executives at this event
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Major Northern Territory and interstate conferences, events and expos

Conference, 
event or expo

Date and 
location Focus/purpose

Developing 
Northern 
Australia 
Conference 

July 2019 
Karratha

The conference brought together key influencers and government decision makers to 
gain an insight into investment opportunities, new projects and policy initiatives, to 
stimulate sustainable economic and social development across Northern Australia 

9th Council of 
International 
Students 
Australia 
National 
Conference

July 2019 
Perth

The conference provided an opportunity to engage with international students in a 
forum that developed a vision for the future of international students in Australia and 
the global education sector. The conference also celebrated international students and 
their successful contributions to the Australian community 

One NTG representative provided support to five StudyNT Student Ambassadors who 
presented at the conference

National 
Housing 
Conference 
2019

August 2019 
Darwin

The biennial conference is the largest gathering for the social and affordable housing 
sectors in Australasia and was held for the first time in Darwin

Australia Taiwan 
Business 
Council and 
ROC-Australia 
Business 
Council Joint 
Conference

August 2019 
Brisbane

The conference was an opportunity for delegates and sponsors to meet some of 
Taiwan’s most successful and influential business leaders and to discover new business 
opportunities

International 
Tertiary 
Education 
Conference

August 2019 
Brisbane and 
Gold Coast

The conference is considered Australia’s leading conference for the independent 
tertiary education sector and was represented by NTG and private VET providers with 
several representatives speaking at the conference

Chief Minister’s 
NT Export and 
Industry Awards 

September 2019 
Darwin

Recognised, promoted and celebrated the Territory's successful exporters

NT Resources 
Week 

September 2019 
Darwin

The department coordinated NTG participation in the event including the address 
by the Chief Minister, participation by other Ministers, hosting of the welcome 
reception in Parliament House and bilateral meetings with the oil and gas industry. 
The department collaborated with the Department of Primary Industry and Resources 
to deliver a government exhibition stand that promoted the petroleum and minerals 
industries
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Conference, 
event or expo

Date and 
location Focus/purpose

Mining the 
Territory 
Conference

September 2019 
Darwin

The 13th annual conference was opened by the CEO of the department and 
addressed by the Chief Minister. A panel discussion on local content, Indigenous 
engagement and shared value examined how the Territory could get the most out 
of its major mining projects with panel members from some of the Territory’s largest 
mines, industry experts and Indigenous representatives 

The panel discussion was facilitated by a department representative

SYMPLED2019 
– Symposium 
on Leading 
Education 
Recruitment

September 2019 
Melbourne

The department sponsored the conference with the objectives to:
 – Promote the NT as a study destination for international students to international 
student recruitment agents

 – Contribute to growing the number of international students studying in the Territory
 – Enhance the public image of the department
 – Undertake a speaking opportunity to promote the Territory as a study destination

Trade and 
Investment 
Ministers 
Meeting

October 2019 
Townsville

Represented the Territory at the biannual national Ministers’ working group meetings

Australian 
International 
Education 
Conference

October 2019 
Perth

The 33rd annual conference’s theme was ‘leading the way’ and the program featured 
world leading experts, unique social events and an exhibition

One NTG representative and one StudyNT Student Ambassador attended the 
conference

Croc Pitch
October 2019 
Darwin

An annual pitching event that was run by the Darwin Innovation Hub in partnership 
with the department. It was an opportunity for Territory entrepreneurs and businesses 
to pitch their business, service or product ideas to a panel of judges in front of a live 
audience. 19 contestants competed for the chance to receive a $100 000 venture 
capital investment from Paspalis and an additional $50 000 of Business Innovation 
funding from the NTG, with Corrosion Instruments winning in 2019

Boundless 
Digital Forum

October 2019 
Darwin

The forum was a partnership initiative between the department, DCIS and the 
Australian Computer Society that highlighted a range of digital initiatives and 
opportunities both in the Territory and internationally

The Digital Gateway to Asia panel discussed the opportunities for the NT to establish 
itself as a Digital Gateway to Asia and look at the opportunities for tech growth in the 
Territory

Pacific 2019
October 2019 
Sydney

The department led a delegation of 17 local businesses and five industry associations to 
showcase the Territory’s defence industry maritime capability to Defence and industry 
decision makers at the tradeshow. The department, the Defence and National Security 
Advocate and a member of the Strategic Defence Advisory Board met with a broad level 
of government, military and senior corporate executives, local and international, at this 
event
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Conference, 
event or expo

Date and 
location Focus/purpose

Northern 
Australia 
Defence 
Summit

October 2019 
Darwin

The department facilitated the summit for key members of the defence industry, 
Defence, government, think tanks and other stakeholders. The summit was 
supplemented by a number of additional defence focused events including a formal 
meeting of the Strategic Defence Advisory Board and the 2019 Maritime Round Table

National Trade 
Working Group 
and National 
Investment 
Group 

November 2019 
Brisbane

Represented the Territory at the biannual national working group meetings

9th Aboriginal 
Economic 
Development 
Forum 

November 2019 
Darwin

Hosted the forum to provide a platform for 350 delegates to build relationships and 
connect Aboriginal entrepreneurs, private sector, industry, government and non-
government organisations to establish relationships with entities that may lead to 
commercial outcomes

National Export 
Awards

November 2019 
Canberra

Supported Territory export award winners on the national stage and promoted the 
Territory’s trade capability

Australian 
Training Awards

November 2019 
Brisbane

One department representative attended the 2019 Australian Training Awards as 
a judge. All costs for travel and accommodation were covered by the Australian 
Government

Ministerial 
Forum on 
Northern 
Development 

December 2019 
Katherine

Supported the Chief Minister and whole-of-government priority issues on the 
Developing the North agenda such as regional infrastructure, tourism and water 
security 

Senior Officials’ 
Trade and 
Investment 
Group 

December 2019 
Brisbane

Represented the Territory at the biannual national working group meetings.

Australian 
Space Industry 
Conference

February 2020 
Melbourne

Engaged in various networking and space investment-attraction activities

Central 
Australian Local 
Workforce and 
Skilling Summit

February 2020 
Alice Springs

The inaugural summit was hosted by Batchelor Institute and was an opportunity to 
share knowledge, ideas and good practices in workforce and skilling through the lens 
of industry and employers’ needs and the emerging opportunities in workforce and 
training. The summit featured expert speakers and interactive workshops to exchange 
best practice and showcase successful partnerships
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Conference, 
event or expo

Date and 
location Focus/purpose

Regions Rising 
NT

February 2020 
Darwin

As part of the Regional Australia Institute national roadshow, the forum brought key 
regional stakeholders together to address regions in transition and the opportunities 
to rethink what regional Australia means. Change was also identified as bringing many 
challenges for regions, with population growth and jobs high on the agenda

Trade and 
Investment 
Ministers’ 
meeting 

March 2020 
Canberra

Represented the Territory at the national Ministers’ working group meetings

Australasian Oil 
and Gas Expo 
and Conference 

March 2020 
Perth

The department delivered an exhibition stand for a delegation of 18 businesses and 
industry associations, arranged briefings from project proponents and networking 
activities.  NTG meetings and briefings were also held with key operators to advance 
the Gas Strategy and facilitate projects

Australian 
Strategic Policy 
Institute (ASPI) 
Conference 
Series: Strategic 
Vision 2020  

June 2020 
Canberra

The NTG co-sponsored the annual international event which is an element of ASPI’s 
broader North of 26 South program. Due to COVID-19 restrictions, the event was 
delivered as an open online conference series hosted by Stan Grant and with national 
and international speakers  

Note: A number of events, conferences and delegations were postponed or cancelled from mid-March due to COVID-19. Business has 
adapted to either online or virtual until travel is safe to resume.  
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Appendix H - Contact us

GPO Box 3200 
Darwin NT 0801

Telephone: (08) 8982 1700

General Contact: businessinfo@nt.gov.au 

Chief Executive Officer: ceo.dtbi@nt.gov.au

 
Territory Business Centres
Email: territory.businesscentre@nt.gov.au

Phone: 1800 193 111

Darwin

Building 3, Darwin Corporate Park 
631 Stuart Highway, Berrimah 

Katherine

Shop 1, Randazzo Building 
18 Katherine Terrace, Katherine

Alice Springs

Ground Floor, The Greenwell Building 
50 Bath Street, Alice Springs 

Tennant Creek

Shop 2, Barkly House 
Corner Davidson and Patterson Streets, Tennant Creek 

 
Other contacts

Phone Email
Business and Innovation NT (08) 8999 5218 BusinessNT@nt.gov.au

MigrationNT (08) 8999 5264 migration@nt.gov.au

Workforce NT (08) 8935 7708 WorkforceNT.dtbi@nt.gov.au

StudyNT (08) 8999 6399 StudyNT@nt.gov.au

Procurement NT (08) 8999 5013 ProcurementNT@nt.gov.au

Office of Sustainable Energy (08 8999 6410 SustainableEnergy.DTBI@nt.gov.au

Investment Territory – Investment Attraction (08) 8999 5091 investmentterritory@nt.gov.au

Regional Economic Development (09) 8951 5785 CADO@nt.gov.au

Media (08) 8999 7985 News.DTBI@nt.gov.au

Executive (08) 8999 5204 CEO.DTBI@nt.gov.au

mailto:businessinfo@nt.gov.au
mailto:mterritory.businesscentre@nt.gov.au
mailto:CEO.DTBI@nt.gov.au
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How to access information
For details on how to apply for access to information under the Information Act 2002 please refer to  
https://nt.gov.au/law/rights/freedom-of-information.

Under a freedom of information request, you can apply to:
 – access government information

 – access personal information

 – correct personal information 

 – seek an internal review of a decision.

Further assistance can be provided by contacting:

Information Officer
Department of Trade, Business and Innovation 
GPO Box 3200
DARWIN NT 0801

Email: DTBI.FOI@nt.gov.au

Feedback 
We value your feedback and input. You can contact us with anything from procurement queries to new ways to support and 
grow Territory businesses and the Territory economy. We would also appreciate your input on how we can better report 
activities to you. You can provide feedback on the department’s website:  
https://business.nt.gov.au/contact/website-feedback-form

Appendix I - Acronyms 

Acronyms Full form
AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board

ADF Australian Defence Force

AJBCC Australia Japan Business Co-operation Committee

AO Officer of the Order of Australia

ASEAN Association of South East Asian Nations

ASPI Australian Strategic Policy Institute

ATO Australian Taxation Office

BIMP-EAGA Brunei Indonesia Malaysia Philippines – East ASEAN Growth Area

BOM Board of Management

CEO Chief Executive Officer

COVID-19 Coronavirus disease caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2

DCIS Department of Corporate and Information Services

DCM Department of the Chief Minister

https://nt.gov.au/law/rights/freedom-of-information
mailto:DTBI.FOI%40nt.gov.au?subject=
https://business.nt.gov.au/contact/website-feedback-form
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Acronyms Full form
DELTA Direct Entry Level Training Agreements

Department Department of Trade, Business and Innovation

DIPL Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics

DPIR Department of Primary Industry and Resources

DTBI Department of Trade, Business and Innovation

DTF Department of Treasury and Finance

DTSC Department of Tourism, Sport and Culture

ECS Enterprise Corporate Services (DCIS)

EMG Executive Management Group

FVOCI Fair value through other comprehensive income

FVTPL Fair value through profit or loss

Green Paper Operation Rebound Green Paper

GST Goods and Services Tax

ICT Information and communication technology

IMC Information Management Committee

JABCC Japan Australian Business Co-operation Committee

KMP Key management personnel

LNG Liquefied natural gas

LPG Liquefied petroleum gas

MLA Member of the Legislative Assembly

NASA National Aeronautics and Space Administration

NDIS National Disability Insurance Scheme

NP National Partnership

NT Northern Territory

NTG Northern Territory Government

NTPS Northern Territory Public Sector

NTTC Northern Territory Treasury Corporation

OCPE Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment

PRB Procurement Review Board

PSEMA Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993

RMAC Risk Management and Audit Committee

RTO Registered Training Organisation

SPP Specific purpose payments

TBA To be announced

TPC Territory Property Consultants

USA United States of America

VET Vocational education and training

WHS Work health and safety
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